Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 382 (2014) 424-451

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/mce

Structural biology of glycoprotein hormones and their receptors: Insights to signaling $\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle{\,\boxtimes\,}}{\overset{\scriptstyle{\,\otimes\,}}}$

Xuliang Jiang^{a,*}, James A. Dias^b, Xiaolin He^c

^a EMD Serono Research & Development Institute, Billerica, MA 01821, United States

^b Department of Biomedical Sciences, School of Public Health, University at Albany-SUNY, Albany, NY 12222, United States

^c Department of Molecular Pharmacology and Biological Chemistry, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL 60611, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 31 August 2013

Keywords: Reproductive 'Seat' sequence LRR curvature estimation Allosteric modulator GPCR trimer Receptor activation mechanism

ABSTRACT

This article reviews the progress made in the field of glycoprotein hormones (GPH) and their receptors (GPHR) by several groups of structural biologists including ourselves aiming to gain insight into GPH signaling mechanisms. The GPH family consists of four members, with follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) being the prototypic member. GPH members belong to the cystine-knot growth factor superfamily, and their receptors (GPHR), possessing unusually large N-terminal ectodomains, belong to the G-protein coupled receptor Family A. GPHR ectodomains can be divided into two subdomains: a high-affinity hormone binding subdomain primarily centered on the N-terminus, and a second subdomain that is located on the C-terminal region of the ectodomain that is involved in signal specificity. The two subdomains unexpectedly form an integral structure comprised of leucine-rich repeats (LRRs). Following the structure determination of hCG in 1994, the field of FSH structural biology has progressively advanced. Initially, the FSH structure was determined in partially glycosylated free form in 2001, followed by a structure of FSH bound to a truncated FSHR ectodomain in 2005, and the structure of FSH bound to the entire ectodomain in 2012. Comparisons of the structures in three forms led a proposal of a two-step monomeric receptor activation mechanism. First, binding of FSH to the FSHR high-affinity hormone-binding subdomain induces a conformational change in the hormone to form a binding pocket that is specific for a sulfated-tyrosine found as sTyr 335 in FSHR. Subsequently, the sTyr is drawn into the newly formed binding pocket, producing a lever effect on a helical pivot whereby the docking sTyr provides as the 'pull & lift' force. The pivot helix is flanked by rigid LRRs and locked by two disulfide bonds on both sides: the hormone-binding subdomain on one side and the last short loop before the first transmembrane helix on the other side. The lift of the sTyr loop frees the tethered extracellular loops of the 7TM domain, thereby releasing a putative inhibitory influence of the ectodomain, ultimately leading to the activating conformation of the 7TM domain. Moreover, the data lead us to propose that FSHR exists as a trimer and to present an FSHR activation mechanism consistent with the observed trimeric crystal form. A trimeric receptor provides resolution of the enigmatic, but important, biological roles played by GPH residues that are removed from the primary FSH-binding site, as well as several important GPCR phenomena, including negative cooperativity and asymmetric activation. Further reflection pursuant to this review process revealed additional novel structural characteristics such as the identification of a 'seat' sequence in GPH. Together with the 'seatbelt', the 'seat' enables a common heteodimeric mode of association of the common α subunit non-covalently and non-specifically with each of the three different β subunits. Moreover, it was possible to establish a dimensional order that can be used to estimate LRR curvatures. A potential binding pocket for small molecular allosteric modulators in the FSHR 7TM domain has also been identified.

© 2013 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.



Review





^{*} This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

^{*} Corresponding author. Address: EMD Serono Research & Development Institute, 45A Middlesex Turnpike, Billerica, MA 01821, United States. Tel.: +1 978 294 1235; fax: +1 978 294 1200.

E-mail address: xuliang.jiang@emdserono.com (X. Jiang).

Contents

1.	Introduction					
2.	Discoveries of glycoprotein hormones as therapeutic drugs					
3.	The st	tructure of glycoprotein hormones	427			
	3.1.	Early quest for a GPH structure	427			
	3.2.	GPH structure architecture	427			
	3.3.	Implication of the GPH structures in biological functions	427			
	3.4.	Quest for glycosylation structures	428			
	3.5.	Dimerization mode of cystine-knot structures	429			
	3.6.	Similar 'seats', different 'seatbelts'	429			
	3.7.	Non-heterodimeric structures	429			
4.	The binding mode of FSH with the hormone-binding portion of FSHR					
	4.1.	Molecular modeling of GPHRs	430			
	4.2.	Hormone-receptor interface in the crystal structure of FSH–FSHR _{HB} complex	430			
	4.3.	FSH changes its conformations upon binding to FSHR _{HB}	431			
	4.4.	A common rigid LRR structure in FSHR and TSHR	432			
	4.5.	First structure-based proposal of receptor activation mechanism	433			
5.	The crystal structure of FSH bound to the entire ectodomain of FSHR.					
	5.1.	Introduction to the concept of a GPHR 'signal specificity domain'	433			
	5.2.	Earlier models of the 'signal specificity domain'	433			
	5.3.	Architecture of the entire ectodomain of FSHR	433			
	5.4.	FSHR mosaic LRRs inform a generalized prediction for curvatures in other proteins with mosaic LRRs	434			
	5.5.	FSH–FSHR _{ED} has a broader interface than FSH–FSHR _{HB}	436			
	5.6.	A second FSH–FSHR interaction site	436			
6.	Struct	rure-based receptor activation mechanism in the hormone-receptor monomer complex	437			
	6.1.	Significance of the 'hinge' disulfide bonds in signal transduction	437			
	6.2.	Proposed receptor activation mechanism	438			
7.	Towa	rds understanding the 7TM domain	438			
	7.1.	Molecular modeling of the 7TM domain	438			
	7.2.	Small molecules as allosteric modulators	441			
8.	Funct	ional relevance of receptor trimers	442			
9.	Hypot	Hypothesis: the role of glycoprotein hormone receptor trimers in signal transduction				
10.	pectives and closing remarks	446				
	Refer	ences	447			

1. Introduction

The glycoprotein hormone (GPH) family consists of the three gonadotropins, luteinizing hormone (LH), follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and chorionic gonadotropin (CG), and a fourth nongonadotropin member, thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH). All four members are important pharmaceutical drugs (PDR, 2013). FSH is clinically used for controlled ovarian stimulation in women undergoing assisted reproduction, most commonly involving in vitro fertilization of retrieved oocytes. It is also used to treat anovulatory infertility in women and hypogonadotropic hypogonadism in men, while LH is used to support FSH therapy. CG is used to induce ovulation in women and to increase sperm count in men, as well as to treat young boys when their testicles do not normally descend into the scrotum. TSH, in combination with ¹³¹I, is administered to post-surgery thyroid cancer patients to suppress and ablate remnant cancerous tissues. Despite decades of successful clinical use and multi-billion-dollar annual sales, it remains poorly understood how glycoprotein hormones activate their receptors in host cells at an atomic level. In this article, we review the progress made by several groups, including ourselves, in the field of the structural biology of glycoprotein hormones and their receptors in an attempt to provide an insightful picture which portrays how FSH binding leads to FSHR activation at the atomic level.

GPHs belong to the superfamily of cystine-knot growth factors (CKGF). FSH, LH and TSH are all secreted from anterior pituitary gland as heteodimeric (two dissimilar subunits) glycoproteins of \sim 30 kDa. Each is composed of a common α -subunit with the same amino acid sequence and a hormone-specific β subunit. Their secretion is controlled by releasing hormones from the hypothala-

mus. Specifically, gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) controls the secretion of FSH and LH, and thyroid-releasing hormone (TRH) controls TSH (Simoni et al., 1997; Szkudlinski et al., 2002; Tao and Segaloff, 2009; Ulloa-Aguirre et al., 2007; Vassart and Costagliola, 2011). Acting to control thyroid functions, TSH induces production of thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3), two molecules that are required for metabolism in almost every tissue in the human body (Porter, 2011). FSH and LH act synergistically to regulate follicular growth and ovulation, respectively, in ovaries and maintenance of normal sperm quality and quantity in testis. Another glycoprotein hormone, human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) is secreted by human placenta during early pregnancy, and acts on the corpus luteum of pregnancy inducing progesterone production, which plays a critical role in maintaining pregnancy (Pierce and Parsons, 1981). CG and LH are directly related in evolutionary origin, as the CG beta subunit gene evolves from the LH beta-subunit gene by duplication and subsequent reading through into the 3'-untranslated region in the same chromosome location (19q13.2 for human) (Fiddes and Goodman, 1980; Talmadge et al., 1984). The characteristics in sequence and function shared by the four members indicates their common evolutionary origin (Uchida et al., 2010).

GPHs exercise their biological function upon interacting with their cognate receptors. Like the hormones, their receptors are also closely related. LH and CG share the same receptor, LHR; FSH binds to FSHR and TSH to TSHR (Combarnous, 1992; Dias, 1992; Nagayama and Rapoport, 1992; Segaloff and Ascoli, 1993). These receptors belong to the leucine-rich-repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor (LGR) subfamily (Hsu et al., 1998, 2000). The LGR subfamily, in turn, belongs to Family A of the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily. GPCRs transduce extracellular signals through their seven-helical transmembrane (7TM) domains to activate G-protein (Pierce et al., 2002). The prototypical member of Family A is rhodopsin. LGRs differ from the non-LGR members of Family A in their ectodomains. While the non-LGR members contain short extracellular N-terminal peptides and bind small molecules, the LGRs have unusually large ectodomains containing leucine-rich repeats (LRR) (Chen et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013). The GPHR ectodomains contain 340-420 amino acid residues and bind their large ligands which have molecular weights of about 33 kilo Daltons (kDa). Upon hormone binding, the hormone-induced conformational changes in the receptor transduce the hormone signals down-stream to the inside of the target cell, by turning on a few signaling molecules, preliminarily a G-protein heterotrimer, leading to the dissociation of α - and dimeric $\beta\gamma$ -subunits. The α -subunit then activates adenvlvl cvclase, resulting in increased cAMP, which ultimately leading to increased production of steroids in the case of LH/CG and FSH. Meanwhile, the free $\beta\gamma$ dimers recruit GPCR kinases (GRK) to the receptor, which phosphorylate the intracellular loops of the receptor. This in turn, leads to the recruitment of β -arrestin to the receptor. By means of these and other signal pathways (McDonald et al., 2006), the hormones induce the necessary physiological responses in their respective host tissues.

Unlike some other ligand-receptor pairs (e.g., cytokines) where the receptors are in a same family but their ligands belong to distinct families (Jiang et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2007; Shim et al., 2010), the common families for both GPHs and GPHRs suggest common structural folds for the hormones as well as the receptors, as the result of the underlying co-evolution of ligand-receptor pairs (Moyle et al., 1994). Fig. 1 shows the co-evolutionary family trees of the hormones and their receptors and their kinship with other proteins. These common evolutionary roots suggest that GPH-GPHR binding and signaling share a common mechanism; thus, understanding any one complex should be instructive for the whole familv. In this article, we will concentrate our discussions on the FSH-FSHR pair since only the crystal structures of FSH and its receptor in the hormone-bound form are currently available. Analyses of structures mentioned in this article were done using CCP4 suite (CCP4, 1994), homology modeling was performed using Coot (Emsley and Cowtan, 2004) and commercial software MOE from

Chemical Computing Group. Structural figures were produced using PyMol (DeLano, 2002).

2. Discoveries of glycoprotein hormones as therapeutic drugs

The discovery and clinical application of the two pituitary gonadotropic hormones, FSH and LH, directly resulted from studies which established the existence of a hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis, beginning early in the twentieth century (Goodman, 2004; Ludwig et al., 2002; Lunenfeld, 2002, 2004). Work by Crowe et al. linked pituitary gland function to the development of genital organs (Crowe et al., 1910). Two years later, Aschner postulated that a higher center in the brain controls the pituitary function (Aschner, 1912). The pituitary-ovarian link hypothesis was confirmed when Smith showed that the ovarian atrophy after removal of the hypophysis was reversed by pituitary implants (Smith, 1926a,b) and Zondek demonstrated that the external implantation of anterior pituitary glands in immature animals evoked precocious sexual maturation (Zondek, 1926). Zondek and Aschheim then showed that extracts from urine collected from postmenopausal women, which is rich with FSH, produced a predominant follicle-stimulating effect, whereas extracts from urine of pregnant women showed a strong luteinizing activity (Aschheim and Zondek, 1927). These observations led Zondeck to propose the idea that two hormones might be required for normal ovarian function: one to stimulate follicular growth and maturation and another to trigger ovulation and luteinization (Zondek, 1929, 1930). This hypothesis was proven after Fevold and a coworker isolated two crude pituitary hormones with distinct actions on the rat ovary: FSH to stimulate ovarian follicular development and LH to cause FSH-stimulated follicles to luteinize (Fevold et al., 1931). The hypothalamus-pituitary link was explicitly proposed by Guillemin in 1967, when he suggested that a releasing factor in the hypothalamus controlled the secretion of gonadotropins from pituitary (Guillemin, 1967). The existence of hypothalamic-pituitary-gonad axis was finally confirmed when Schally and Guillemin elucidated the chemical structure of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) in early 1970s (Burgus et al., 1972; Schally et al., 1971).

The crucial step for the hormones' clinical application is to establish an extraction and purification method to obtain purified materials in sufficient quantity. Donini found that the hormones



Fig. 1. Phylogenetic relationship of glycoprotein hormones and their receptors. Abbreviations used in this figure are as follows. Gn: Gonadotropins; PDGF: platelet-derived growth factor; TGF-β: transforming growth factor-β; IL-17: interleukin-17; CKGF: cystine-knot growth factor; ICK: inhibitor cystine knot; CCK: cyclic cystine knot; LGR: leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptor; GnRH-R: gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor; CXCR: chemokine receptor; NgR: Nogo receptor; GPIbα: platelet glycoprotein Ibα; [LRR-ECD]: concerning the ectodomains, LGRs are closely related to Nogo receptor and platelet glycoprotein Ibα. The solid lines depict the phylogenic branches. The single dashed line concerns the ectodomains only. The double dashed lines denote ligand–receptor relationship.

could be extracted by kaolin clay from urine collected from postmenopausal women (Donini, 1949). This pioneering work laid the foundation for the development of Serono's fertility drug Pergonal[®], which helped Lunenfeld to treat an anovulatory patient, who had the first live birth by assisted reproductive technology (ART) in 1961 (Lunenfeld et al., 1962), and then in 1978 allowed Steptoe and Edwards to achieve the world's first live birth (Louise Brown) from an oocyte fertilized in vitro (Steptoe and Edwards, 1978). In recognition of this achievement in *in vitro* fertilization technology (IVF), Robert Edwards was awarded the Nobel Prize in physiology or medicine in 2010. The recombinant FSH was developed in 1990s and has been marketed under the commercial name Gonal-f[®] (Loumaye et al., 1998). The recombinant LH was approved by FDA and marketed under commercial name Luveris[®] in 2004 but the detailed research data has not been published yet.

Human CG (hCG) was discovered as a by-product from the long quest for FSH and LH (Lunenfeld, 2004). Aschheim and Zondek demonstrated that urine extracts from pregnant women had strong luteinizing activities (Aschheim and Zondek, 1927). They believed that this originated from the anterior pituitary. However, the in vitro studies (Seegar-Jones et al., 1943) demonstrated that it was the placenta, not the pituitary that was responsible for producing this activity. They further pinpointed the chorionic villi as the source of gonad-stimulating activity. Compared to pathways leading to clinical application of FSH and LH, the path of hCG to clinic was relatively smooth, due to the fact that hCG is abundant in placenta, which made its purification easier. Clinical grade hCG was first manufactured and marketed by Organon in 1931, first under the name 'Pregnon[®]' and then 'Pregnyl[®]' (Tausk, 1978). Subsequent clinical studies showed that, in the absence of FSH, hCG alone had no effect on follicle stimulation, ovulation or corpus luteum formation (Hamblen et al., 1945). Current clinical usage of hCG is mainly for treating the pre-pubertal boys whose testis do not descend into the scrotum and to synergize FSH treatment of anovulatory women. The Ascheim-Zondek assay to test the ability of hCG to induce follicular rupture in female rats has long been the standard pregnancy test based on hCG activity.

Finally, the history of TSH discovery can also be traced back to the time period when the biological linkage between the pituitary and gonad was discovered and the subsequent discovery of thyroidstimulating activity itself in the pituitary gland (Szkudlinski et al., 2002). Uhlenhuth and Schwartzbach (1927) discovered that a factor secreted from the pituitary gland caused a histological change in the thyroid gland. This factor was subsequently named thyroid stimulating factor (TSH). The clinical benefits of TSH treatment were not well established until the end of last century (Borget et al., 2007; Cole et al., 1993). Recombinant human TSH was approved and marketed by Genzyme in the U.S. in 1998 under the commercial name Tryrogen[®]. It has been administered in combination with ¹³¹I (radioidine) in thyroid cancer patients post cancer-removal to suppress and ablate remnant cancerous thyroid tissues by inducing the uptake of radioiodine into the thyroid gland.

Recently, another pituitary hormone has been found (Nakabayashi et al., 2002). Named thyrostimulin, this protein is similar to other glycoprotein hormones, especially to TSH. It is a heterodimer and activates TSHR (Breous et al., 2005; Okada et al., 2006). Its physiological role, however, remains unclear.

3. The structure of glycoprotein hormones

3.1. Early quest for a GPH structure

In the backdrop of the long history of basic research and the successful clinical use of glycoprotein hormones, and with an aim to create more active analogs, many researchers sought the three dimensional structures of these therapeutically important drugs in order to understand their biological functions at the atomic level. GPHs are cystine-rich: 10 cysteine residues in the common α -subunit and 12 in each β -subunit. Despite numerous studies, definite assignments for all the disulfide bonds had remained elusive (Cornell and Pierce, 1974; Fujiki et al., 1980; Giudice and Pierce, 1976, 1978, 1979; Mise and Bahl, 1980, 1981; Pierce et al., 1976; Rathnam et al., 1982; Reeve et al., 1975; Reeve and Pierce, 1981). Consequently, all of the GPH theoretical models (Hage-van Noort et al., 1992; Lustbader et al., 1993; Moyle et al., 1990; Willey and Leidenberger, 1989) based on those assignments and other information were incorrect.

3.2. GPH structure architecture

When the hCG crystal structure (PDB: 1HCN, 1HRP) was determined in 1994 it was heralded as a major breakthrough (Lapthorn et al., 1994; Wu et al., 1994) (Fig. 2a). The structure unexpectedly revealed that GPHs belong to the cystine-knot superfamily which includes growth factors (Chen et al., 2012; McDonald and Hendrickson, 1993). Both α - and β -subunits are folded into elongated, non-globular cystine-knot structures with three loops extending out from the core motif containing three knotting disulfide bridges (Fig. 2b). Each subunit has an exceptionally high surface-to-volume ratio and lacks apparent hydrophobic cores. The two hetero-subunits are super-imposable at the cystine-knot cores; they dimerize in a quasi-dyad symmetry (Wu et al., 1994) (Fig. 2a-d). The peptide that extends beyond the cystine-knot core in the β -subunit acts like a 'seatbelt', wrapping around the helix-containing L2 loop of the α -subunit and buckling the C-terminal end of the peptide back to the body of the β -subunit via an intra-molecular disulfide bond between residues 110 and 26 next to the cystine-knot core (Fig. 2e). This unusual dimerization raised the obvious question whether heterodimer assembly involves threading of the $\mathcal{L}2\alpha$ loop with its attached oligosaccharide through the 'seatbelt' (the threading pathway) or alternatively, whether an unlatched 'seatbelt' wraps around the α -subunit before it is "buckled" (the wraparound pathway). Xing et al. demonstrated that hCG, hFSH. and hTSH are assembled primarily by the threading pathway in mammalian cells (Xing et al., 2004b).

3.3. Implication of the GPH structures in biological functions

Extensive mutagenesis and structure-activity relationship data preceded the hCG and the subsequent FSH crystal structures (PDB: 1FL7) (Fox et al., 2001). Together, these studies suggested topological features and hormone-receptor binding and biological functions. Having a common α -subunit, GPHs must be distinguished by their β -subunits for receptor specificity. At the center of the 'seatbelt' of hCG β-subunit lies a 'determinant loop', β93–100. The importance of this sequence stretch was first recognized by Ward and Moore, who proposed that the charge distribution in this loop may determine the hormone specificity: a net positive charge for LH/hCG and a net negative charge for FSH and TSH (Ward and Moore, 1979). Numerous follow-up studies confirmed this hypothesis (Campbell et al., 1991; Dias et al., 1994; Grossmann et al., 1997; Huang et al., 1993). The second interesting region is the $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ which has an unusual conformation. The $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ charged residue R43 is partially buried while its neighboring hydrophobic residues in both α - and β -subunits are often exposed (Jiang et al., 1995; Lapthorn et al., 1994). Indeed, nicks in the $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop disrupt receptor activation (Cole et al., 1991; Ward et al., 1986); an R43L mutation in hCG (Chen and Puett, 1991) significantly diminishes its receptor binding activity; a natural mutation Q54R of LH diminishes its receptor binding capability (Weiss et al., 1992); and the side chains of residues $^{37}\text{LVY}^{39}$ of FSH β affect receptor interaction and steroi-



Fig. 2. The hCG structure. (a) A ribbon diagram of hCG. The α -subunit is shown in red and the β -subunit in blue. The two subunits are related by a pseudo 2-fold symmetry (shown as a rotation axis at the left of the structure). (b) A schematic drawing of the cystine-knot topology for the cystine-knot growth factor family members. β -strands are drawn as arrows, conserved cysteine residues are labeled and the penetrating disulfide bonds are represented as yellow lines. The loops are represented as black lines. N and C denote to N- and C-terminus, respectively. (c) Inter-chain superposition of the cystine knot of the two subunits of hCG. The two subunits are distinguished in red and blue, with the cystine knot cores shown as ribbons and other residues as lines. (d) Sequence alignment of cystine-knot sequences of glycoprotein hormones. The conserved residues in the GPH β -subunits are shaded. The conserved cysteine residues in the cystine knots are highlighted in yellow and their disulfide bonds are shown as yellow lines. Also highlighted in yellow are glycine residues in the CxGxC sequence motif. Potential glycosylation sites are underlined. The determinant loop sequences are marked in a blue box. The contacting residues between the two subunits in the GPH heterodimers are marked by asterisks. The 'seatbelt' sequence is marked by a dashed arrow line and the proposed 'seat' sequence is marked by a solid line. (e) A schematic drawing of the hCG dimer topology. The α -subunit is red and β -subunit is blue except for the seatbelt region, which is green. The secondary structural elements are indicated by a cylinder for α -helix or an arrow for β -strand and β -subunit is blue except for the seatbelt region, which is green. The secondary structural elements are indicated by a cylinder for α -helix or an arrow for β -strand. Cysteine residues are labeled. The potential O-linked glycosylation sites as small black "Y". (CP stands for C-terminal peptide. This cartoon is a 2D representation of the 3D structur

dogenesis (Roth and Dias, 1995). In the common α subunit, the C-terminal peptide (88–92) is disordered in the hCG structure but adopts different conformations in two independent FSH molecules in the crystal structure (Fox et al., 2001). This peptide has been implicated in receptor binding in hCG, FSH and TSH (Arnold et al., 1998; Chen et al., 1992; Grossmann et al., 1995; Yoo et al., 1993). In summary, the determinant loop and the C-terminal peptide of the α subunit, along with the $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop, are the major contributors to receptor binding and activation.

3.4. Quest for glycosylation structures

GPHs are heavily glycosylated in their natural state. The carbohydrates play important roles in GPH stability, folding, cellular trafficking and in vivo half-life and receptor signaling (Baenziger, 1994; Bousfield et al., 1996; Butnev et al., 2002; Fares, 2006; Szkudlinski et al., 1995; Ulloa-Aguirre et al., 1999; Walton et al., 2001). The human common α subunit carries two N-linked carbohydrate sites, the β subunit carries one or two N-linked carbohydrate sites and hCG β subunit has additional four O-linked carbohydrate sites at the C-terminal peptide (CTP) (Fig. 2e). Nlinked glycosylation in the β -subunit is located uniquely in the $\mathcal{L}1\beta$ loop: two sites for FSH (site 1 at N7 and site 2 at N24) and hCG (site 1 at N13 and site 2 at N30) but only one site each for LH (N30) and TSH (N23). Glycosylation at these sites has been reported to affect subunit folding and secretion by assisting disulfide bond formation, with site 2 having a greater effect than site 1 (Feng et al., 1995a,b). The phenomenon that hCG maintains a prolonged plasma half-life has been mainly attributed to its additional four Olinked oligosaccharides in the CTP (Fares, 2006; Fares et al., 1992). Glycosylation at N78 α in loop 3 of α subunit enhances the hormone's thermal stability (van Zuylen et al., 1997), while the carbohydrates at N52 α in loop 2 have been shown to be indispensable for signaling (Matzuk and Boime, 1989; Matzuk et al., 1989). Heikoop et al. (1998), however, have suggested that the carbohydrate at N52 α is responsible for heterodimeric association rather than for full efficacy. This peculiar finding has been rebutted by later studies from Moyle's group (Bernard et al., 2005; Moyle et al., 2004; Xing et al., 2004a; Xing and Moyle, 2003).

Unfortunately, the hCG protein used for the structure determinations published in 1994 was partially deglycosylated with hydrogen fluoride (HF), and was biologically inactive (Lapthorn et al., 1994; Wu et al., 1994). The question has been how much influence the full oligosaccharides play on the hormone structure. Two crystallographic studies have been carried out to determine the structures of fully active hCG and FSH with the necessary glycosylation. (Tegoni et al., 1999) crystalized the ternary complex of intact or desialylated hCG with the variable domains of two high affinity antibodies (PDB: 1QFW). The intact and the desialylated complexes diffracted to 4.5 and 3.5 Å, respectively. Only two glycan residues (one at N52 α and the other at N78 α) were present in the final structure, because the electron densities from the low-resolution crystals were not strong enough for the additional glycan residues to be included in the final refinement. For hFSH, it was observed that glycosltaion at N24 of the β -subunit was detectable in only about half of the molecules (Dias et al., 1998). To reduce glycoform heterogeneity, the second glycosylation site was disrupted by mutagenesis (T26A). This isoform of hFSH was fully active and diffracted to 3.0 Å. Seven glycan residues (two at N52 α , three at N78 α and two at N7 β) have been included in the final refinement (Fox et al., 2001). Comparative analysis of hFSH and hCG structures indicated that glycosylation has no global effect on GPH conformations.

3.5. Dimerization mode of cystine-knot structures

Cystine-knot structures have been observed in several other proteins (Bergner et al., 1996; Daopin et al., 1992; Hymowitz et al., 2001; McDonald et al., 1991; Oefner et al., 1992; Schlunegger and Grutter, 1992; Shim et al., 2010). All cystine-knot protein structures that have been determined are dimeric. The dimerization mode of GPHs is different from the others (NGF, TGF-β, PDGF-BB, coagulogen and IL-17). Following Wu et al.'s analysis (Wu et al., 1994), the dimerization mode for cystine-knot dimers, including two more structures (coagulogen and IL-17) that were solved after Wu et al.'s publication, were re-analyzed. The cystine-knot core motif of one monomer of the other dimers was superimposed on that of the hCG α -subunit, and the locations of the other monomers relative to the superimposed ones were then examined. Amazingly, as found by Wu et al. earlier, the association modes for all these dimers are distinct from each other (Fig. 3a and b), suggesting that the cystine-knot structure motif per se plays little role in the dimerization of all these growth factors.

3.6. Similar 'seats', different 'seatbelts'

Given the close genetic and functional relationships among the four GPHs, we can safely assume that the modes of their heterodimeric association are identical. Structural comparison between hCG and FSH indeed reveals identical folds and modes of dimerzation (Fox et al., 2001). On the other hand, our above analysis clearly shows that the dimerization modes of cystine-knot structures from different subgroups are completely different. How does the common α subunit achieve a common non-covalent association mode with three different β subunits, despite the fact that the three beta subunits of FSH, TSH and hCG/LH share only a moderate level (~35%) of sequence identity?

To answer this question, we re-examined the GPH sequences and the hCG and FSH structures. Our study revealed that the common α subunit interacts with two separate sequence stretches of the diverse β subunits (Fig. 2d). The first stretch, which we term the 'seat', is around the CAGYC common sequence motif, predominantly consisting of common atoms among the different β subunits. The other, the 'seatbelt', contains mostly different residues in the stretch. Considering these data, we can now propose a mechanism by which the common α chain achieves its common association mode with three different β subunits non-covalently: the α subunit first interacts in low to medium affinity with the homologous 'seat' residues in the β subunits, and the affinity is then strengthened by tightening the 'seatbelt' from the second nonhomologous sequence stretch (Fig. 3c). Indeed, thyrostimulin, which lacks a putative 'seatbelt' loop, is not as stable as the other GPHs (Okajima et al., 2008).

3.7. Non-heterodimeric structures

Although α - and β -subunits mainly exist and function as heterodimers, individual chains do exist separately and have been isolated (Cole et al., 2006; Garnier, 1978; Iles et al., 2010). Free β -subunits have been shown to be excessively secreted from choriocarcinoma cells and form a homodimer. It remains to be seen if the





homodimer adopts the same dimerization mode as seen in the heterodimer. Free α subunit is also present in large quantities in the pituitary and human placenta (Blithe, 1990; Blithe et al., 1991; Parsons et al., 1983). NMR studies show that isolated α subunit is more flexible than when it is in the heterodimeric environment and the $\mathcal{L}2\alpha$ loop that contains an α -helix in the heterodimer is disordered in the monomeric structure (PDB: 1E9J, 1HD4, 1DZ7) (Erbel et al., 1999, 2000).

4. The binding mode of FSH with the hormone-binding portion of FSHR

The advances in cloning and expression of glycoprotein hormone receptors (GPHRs) since 1989 (Kelton et al., 1992; McFarland et al., 1989; Parmentier et al., 1989; Sprengel et al., 1990) initiated a period of rapid progress in understanding and ultimately providing reagents which would lead to the structural evidence for the mode of interaction of GPH ligands with their receptors. An imperfect motif of leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) in the sequence of the ectodomain of LHR identified by McFarland and coworkers led to the proposal that the ectodomain contains 14 LRRs (McFarland et al., 1989). In 1993, the first crystal structure of a LRR protein, porcine ribonuclease inhibitor (RI), was solved (PDB: 1BNH, which has been superseded by 2BNH) (Kobe and Deisenhofer, 1993). The LRRs in RI are arranged tandemly in a horseshoe shape with 16 α -helices surrounding 17 parallel β strands, all aligned nearly parallel around a common axis. Each LRR is composed of 28 or 29 amino acids composed of a β strand and an α helix separated by two loops. These advances opened the door to molecular modeling of GPHRs.

4.1. Molecular modeling of GPHRs

In 1995, three groups published 3D GPHR models. Moyle's group (Moyle et al., 1995) aligned the LRR sequence of LHR with those of RI and placed the intron–exon junctions of LHR in solvent-exposed loops furthest from the transmembrane domain. (Kajava et al., 1995) obtained the distribution of the LRR lengths from 68 different LRR proteins selected by sequence-profile searching. They found that while the length of a 'typical' LRR is 24, RI has the lengths 28 or 29 and belongs to a less populated LRR subfamily. That group then performed comparative sequence analysis to distinguish residues with possible structural roles from those with essential functional roles, and used that knowledge to model the structure of the 'typical' LRR units. Based on these modeled units, they built the three-dimensional model of the ectodomain of TSHR (residues 54–254).

A completely different approach was used to model the threedimensional structures of GPHRs (Jiang et al., 1995). First, the relationship of LRRs with their corresponding 9 exon structures was analyzed, and it was found that each of exons 2-8 remarkably correlated with one LRR with appreciable homology within the repeats. Exons 1 and 9, on the other hand, were quite different. Although there might be an adjoining LRR in exon 1 and two additional repeats at the start of exon 9, the bulky exons 1 and 9 made unambiguous identification of LRRs within them difficult. Focusing on exons 2-8, which encode major determinants for hormone binding, and realizing that the LRRs in the GPHR are composed of about 24 amino acids and have a somewhat distinct motif from RI, the strategy did not presume the shorter repeats adopt the same β/α conformation as in RI. In order to identify the structural motif for LRRs in GPHRs, the accuracy of secondary-structure prediction was augmented with an averaging technique, taking advantage of the periodic nature in the LRR sequences. The GPHRs showed strong propensity of β strands for the amino-acid residues encoded around the exon boundaries but somewhat diminished helix probability and enhanced loop propensity relative to RI for the amino-acid residues encoded in the middle of the exons. The analysis of shear-number to strand-number ratio further constrained the inclinations of parallel β strands to near zero degree. Next it seemed reasonable to postulate that the dominantly positive charges on the hCG surface were complementary with the negative electrostatic potentials of the β -strand region on the inner surface of LHR. Based on complementarities of both shape and electrostatic attraction between hormone and receptor, it was possible to build the complex models of GPHs and their receptors. These proposed models (Jiang et al., 1995) have been supported by a wealth of biochemical data, including those from a well-designed epitope mapping study (Pantel et al., 1993).

Because RI shares such low sequence identity with GPHRs that almost approaches a random level, a disclaimer was made about the accuracy in side-chain interactions (Jiang et al., 1995). As a result, the model was guite crude, and detailed interactions indeed turned out to be incorrect (Fan and Hendrickson, 2007). Nevertheless, the model correctly predicted the LRR β strands and the dominant electrostatic interactions in the hormone-receptor interface, and the overall complex uncannily resembled the crystal structure of FSH-FSHR_{HB} that was solved a decade later (Fan and Hendrickson, 2005). The overall correct model enabled one of the authors (X.J.) and his colleagues to focus on a smaller surface of FSH for site-directed mutagenesis and successfully produce mutants with improved physicochemical properties (Brondyk et al., 2008; Garone et al., 2010, 2011; Muda et al., 2010, 2011). Several groups later also published theoretical models for portions of the receptors (Bhowmick et al., 1996; Kleinau et al., 2004; Moyle et al., 2004; Puett et al., 2007; Smits et al., 2003; Song et al., 2001; Szkudlinski et al., 2002). These models have been used to explain experimental data or design new experiments.

4.2. Hormone-receptor interface in the crystal structure of FSH-FSHR_{HB} complex

Another major advance was achieved when a crystal structure was determined for FSH in complex with the truncated hormone binding portion of FSHR ectodomain (PDB: 1XWD) (FSHR_{HB}) (Fan and Hendrickson, 2005). This structure revealed detailed atomic interactions between the hormone and FSHR_{HB} (Dias, 2005; Fan and Hendrickson, 2005). The curvature of FSHR_{HB}, unlike the uniformly curved RI, is steeply graded, starting from nearly flat at the N-terminal repeats 1–7, and increasing gradually to horse-shoe-like curvature at the C-terminal repeats 7–10.

The Fan-Hendrickson structure shows that FSH binds to FSHR_{HB} like a 'handclasp'. As noted above, the overall picture is similar to what had been predicted earlier (Jiang et al., 1995): most β -strands in the inner surface of FSHR are involved in hormone-binding, electrostatic attractions are dominant in the hormone-receptor interface, and carbohydrate does not participate in the primary binding. For the hormone part, the 'determinant loop' of FSH β (residues 87–94), together with its neighboring residues 95–99 in the 'seatbelt' loop, is at the center of the interface, sandwiched by the $\alpha \mathcal{L}2$ loop and C-terminal segment of the α subunit (Fig. 4). The interactions between α -subunit residues and the four conserved receptor residues constitute the common hormone-receptor interface. Two of them are charge-charge interactions between electronegative receptor residues and electropositive hormone residues from $\alpha L2$ loop (D153 and D81 of FSHR pairing with K51 and K45/R42, respectively). The importance of these residues had been recognized earlier by peptide mapping as well as mutational studies (Bhowmick et al., 1996; Erickson et al., 1990; Leinung et al., 1991; Liu and Dias, 1996). The other two are LRRs 5-6 of FSHR interacting with residues from the α subunit C-terminus. To make these interactions, the C-terminus (residues 88-92) undergoes a



Fig. 4. Schematic illustration of detailed interaction at the FSH–FSHR interface. Contacting residues from FSH_{RHB} are shown as yellow dots and those from FSH α as red dots and FSH β as blue dots. The middle column summarizes the specific side-chain interactions between FSH and FSH_{RHB}. Interactions that contribute to common affinities among all the GPH–GPHR family members are shown as green-filled circles (for charge–charge interactions) or boxes (for non-charged atomic contacts) and they are connected by green lines back to the yellow dots in FSHR or red or blue dots in FSH α - or β -subunits, respectively. Interactions that contribute to specificity are shown as purple-filled circles or boxes and they are connected by purple lines to the dotted residues in FSHR and FSH. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

dramatic conformational change by rotating almost 180 degrees from the free-state and swinging its end more than 20 Å. D150 of FSHR interacting with K91 of α subunit is another salt bridge contributed by an electronegative residue from receptor and an electropositive residue from the hormone. The fourth interaction, that of the side chains of α subunit Y88 and FSHR Y124 stacking their aromatic rings against each other, contributes significant energy to the interface by burying 106 Å² of solvent-accessible surface area. Indeed, the vital role of Y88 and other C-terminal residues of α chain in receptor binding and signaling have been demonstrated in earlier experiments (Arnold et al., 1998; Chen et al., 1992).

Hormone specificity is conferred by the divergent residues on the β subunits that interact with variable receptor residues. Structure-based sequence comparative analysis indicates that five FSHR residues, L55, E76, R101, K179 and I222, are the primary candidates for defining receptor specificity. Not only do these residues appear at the interface, they vary from receptor to receptor in human species and also interact with FSH residues that differ from hormone to hormone. FSHR residues L55 and K179 have been suggested (Fan and Hendrickson, 2005) to distinguish between FSH and TSH versus LH/CG, whereas E76 and R101 account for the specificity between FSH and TSH. This proposal is supported by earlier mutagenesis studies (Campbell et al., 1991; Dias et al., 1994; Grossmann et al., 1997; Keutmann et al., 1989; Moyle et al., 1994; Smits et al., 2003; Vischer et al., 2003).

Many other residues, both direct and non-direct contact residues, are buried in the interface. The non-direct contact residues may have a collective effect on interface affinity and receptor specificity. For those direct contact residues, it is still not simple to place them into the category of hormone-receptor interface common for all GPHs or that of hormone specificity, except for one of them: the salt bridge between D93 of β subunit and K104 of FSHR, which likely belongs to the first category. D93 is a conserved residue among the hormones. K104, however, is not conserved among the receptors, as the corresponding residues are N107 in LHR and N110 in TSHR. Nevertheless, LHR and TSHR do have positively charged residues nearby. K109 in LHR and R112 or R109 in TSHR could form salt bridges with the corresponding acidic residues in the β subunits (D99 in LH/CG and D94 in TSH, respectively). Fig. 4 schematically summarizes the hormone-receptor interactions at the interface.

4.3. FSH changes its conformations upon binding to FSHR_{HB}

Structural comparison of the independent FSH molecules within a same form revealed the internal conformational flexibility of FSH. There are two FSH molecules in the free form structure (pdb code 1FL7) and in the FSHR_{HB}-bound form (pdb code 1XWD). Conformational comparison of the two independent FSH molecules in the 1FL7 structure may uncover the internal FSH flexibility in the free form while that in the 1XWD structure would show the internal FSH flexibility in the receptor-bound form. Although the conformations of the two molecules in the free form are generally similar, there are substantial conformational changes in several regions. Upon superimposition of two FSH heterodimers in the free form, 46 residues in the loops and C-terminus (i.e., E14 to I25 in loop $\mathcal{L}1\alpha$, L48 and V49 in loop $\mathcal{L}2\alpha$, R67 to K75 in loop $\mathcal{L}3\alpha$, T86 to the last visible C-terminal residue H90 in the α -subunit; E16 to R18 in loop $\mathcal{L}1\beta$, K40 to Q48 in loop $\mathcal{L}2\beta$, two isolated residues (R62, A67) in loop $\mathcal{L}3\beta$, C87 of the determinant loop, F106 to the last common visible C-terminal residue E108 in the β -subunit) have moved over 1 Å, resulting in an overall C α root-mean-squared

deviation (r.m.s.d) of 1.9 Å between the two FSH copies (Fan and Hendrickson, 2005; Fox et al., 2001) (Fig. 5a). Most of these residues have later been found in the receptor interface (see below). The largest shift is over 5 Å for the residues in loop $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ and C-terminus of both chains. In contrast, the FSH conformation in the FSHR_{HB}-bound form is quite rigid. Only 21 residues (i.e., residues P17 to I23 in loop $\mathcal{L}1\alpha$, G72 in loop $\mathcal{L}3\alpha$, K14 in loop $\mathcal{L}1\beta$, Y39, K40 and P45 in loop $\mathcal{L}2\beta$, V63 to G65 and H69 to L73 in loop $\mathcal{L}3\beta$, C-terminal residue G107 in the β -subunit) have move over 1 Å, resulting in a much smaller overall C α r.m.s.d. of 0.7 Å between independent FSH copies in the bound state (Fig. 5b). No residues have shifted over 3 Å. The significantly reduced r.m.s.d. implies that FSH rigidifies its overall conformations upon receptor binding.

Receptor-binding induced conformational change can be revealed from structural comparisons of FSH molecules between the free form and the receptor-bound form. The average C α r.m.s.d for overall molecule is 1.2 Å. The noticeable changes occur in the loops and C-terminus: residue P21 in loop $\mathcal{L}1\alpha$ moves ~ 2 Å, K45 in loop $\mathcal{L}1\alpha \sim 1.5$ Å, G72 in loop $\mathcal{L}3\alpha \sim 5$ Å, R44 in loop $\mathcal{L}2\beta \sim 7$ Å, H68 in loop $\mathcal{L}3\beta \sim 1.5$ Å, S92 in C-terminal α subunit ~ 24 Å and G107 in C-terminal β subunit ~ 5 Å (Fig. 5d and e).

4.4. A common rigid LRR structure in FSHR and TSHR

Two crystal structures of the truncated ectodomain of TSHR in complex with the thyroid-stimulating autoantibody (M22) (PDB: 3G04) or the thyroid-blocking autoantibody (K1–70) (PDB:

2XWT) were determined in 2007 and 2011, respectively. This truncated TSHR domain (residues 22-260) corresponds roughly to the equivalent residues in the truncated FSHR domain in the 1XWD structure. These structures provide opportunities to assess the rigidity of the LRR domain within each receptor and between receptors in the GPHR family. In both receptors, the LRR domain is flanked at the N-terminus by a cysteine-rich box. However, the disulfide bond patterns in FSHR and TSHR are different. While the four cysteines in TSHR are paired sequentially forming two horizontally parallel disulfide bridges (C24 bonds to C29, and C31 to C41), the four cysteines in FSHR are paired in a skipping manner forming two disulfide bridges (C18 bonds to C25, and C23 to C32) that almost stagger over each other, as in the case of the Nogo receptor (pdb accession code: 10ZN) (He et al., 2003). Therefore, the cysteine-rich boxes in FSHR and TSHR are not equivalent. When all four molecules (2 FSHR copies in 1XWD, 1 TSHR each in 3G04 and 2XWT) are aligned, the common residues are C23-R247 in FSHR and C31-R255 in TSHR. There is little conformation change for the LRR common residues within each receptor (overall r.m.s.d. for all 225 C α atoms is 0.5 Å between two FSHR copies in 1XWD or between two TSHR molecules in 2XWT and 3G04). Amazingly, FSHR and TSHR can also be superimposed extremely well for the LRR common residues, even though there are 6 gaps in the structure-based sequence alignment and the receptors bind to different types of ligands in the structures (Fig. 5g). These data suggest that the LRR domains adopt a common structure across the receptor family.



Fig. 5. Flexibility of FSH and FSHR. (a–c) Flexibility of FSH. (a) FSH in its free form. Red highlights residues that differ by 1 Å or more upon superimposition of two copies. (b) FSH in the FSHR_{HB}-bound form. There are fewer red-colored residues, reflecting a more rigid FSH conformation upon binding to the LRR portion of the receptor. (c) FSH in the FSHR_{ED}-bound form. No red-colored residues are seen in this form, reflecting the most rigid FSH conformation once it binds to the entire ectodomain of the receptor. (d–f) Conformational change of FSH upon binding to its receptor. (d) FSH conformation in its free form. (e) FSH conformation in the FSHR_{HB}-bound form (colored wires) in comparison with that in the free form (grey wires). Residues colored in red have changed spatial position by 1.5 Å or more. Most of these residues are from loops $\mathcal{L}3\alpha$ and $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ and C-terminus of α -subunit. (f) FSH conformation in FSHR_{ED}-bound form (green wires) in comparison with that in FSHR_{HB}-bound form (grey wires) when the receptors (not shown) are superimposed. Notice that FSH in the FSHR_{ED}-bound form shifts towards the left as it binds the receptor tighter. (g–h) Rigid GPHR LRR domains. (g) The LRR domain structures of FSHR (magenta) and TSHR (blue) are almost identical despite gaps in their sequence alignment and despite that the receptors bind to different types of ligands (FSH and autoantibody, respectively) in the structures. (h) Comparison of FSHR_{HB} subdomain in the FSH_{RB} (cyan) and FSH-FSHR_{ED} (green) crystal structures. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

4.5. First structure-based proposal of receptor activation mechanism

In addition to the detailed description of hormone-receptor interactions, Fan and Hendrickson (2005) proposed a two-step receptor activation mechanism based on the observed FSH–FSHR_{HB} complex dimers in the crystal and also on detected dimer in solution by methods of chemical cross-linking, analytical centrifugation and light scattering. They proposed that once FSH binds to the ectodomain of FSHR, the complex dimerizes via hydrophobic interactions between the hFSHR_{HB} protomers, with residue Y110 at the center of the dimerization interface. The dimerization would relay the hormone-binding signal across the cell membrane and activate the G-protein, unleashing a cascade of down-stream signaling events inside the target cell.

There are two outstanding issues regarding the structural aspect of receptor activation. The first is about the orientation of the hormone in the complex in relative to the 7TM domain of the receptor. Fan and Hendrickson (2005) have suggested the two hormone α loops ($\mathcal{L}1\alpha$ and $\mathcal{L}3\alpha$) are oriented directly towards the 7TM domain. The root of this proposed orientation can be traced back to several earlier publications (Braun et al., 1991; Jiang et al., 1995; Remy et al., 1996). In contrast, several other research groups have placed the β subunit towards the 7TM domain (Duprez et al., 1997; Moyle et al., 2005; Puett et al., 2007; Szkudlinski et al., 2002; Vassart and Costagliola, 2011). The second issue is whether the Fan-Hendrickson dimer is necessary and sufficient for activation of the full-length receptor (Fan and Hendrickson, 2007; Guan et al., 2010; Latif et al., 2010; Ulloa-Aguirre et al., 2007). An FSHR Y110N mutation had no effect on FSH mediated cAMP production (Guan et al., 2010), implying that Y110 mediated FSHR dimer is not important for receptor activation. This interpretation, however, has to be treated with a caution for two reasons. The FSHR C-terminal fusion protein used to demonstrate dimerization based on BRET was not shown to be biologically active, and FSHR oligomerization was shown occurring in endoplasmic reticulum with evidence of carboxyl-terminal proteolytic processing (Thomas et al., 2007). On the other hand, it has been suggested (Latif et al., 2010) that TSHR Y116 (corresponding to Y110 in FSHR) plays a critical role in the receptor oligomerization.

5. The crystal structure of FSH bound to the entire ectodomain of FSHR

5.1. Introduction to the concept of a GPHR 'signal specificity domain'

The so-called 'signal specificity domain' is a stretch of amino acid sequence after the hormone-binding segment and before the transmembrane domain, roughly corresponding to residues L263-R366 in FSHR, N267-R363 in LHR and H271-R418 in TSHR. Other terms for this region include hinge region, hinge domain and C-terminal cysteine-rich region; for TSHR, this region is also called a cleavage domain due to an insertion of a unique 50 amino-acid stretch with two cleavage sites (Mueller et al., 2010). This region had been proposed to form a separate structural unit and be highly flexible, and was described as 'enigmatic' (Grossmann et al., 1998; Moyle et al., 2005; Mueller et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2000). Although not contributing significantly to hormone binding (Braun et al., 1991; Moyle et al., 1994), this region fine-tunes receptor signaling with respect to basal signaling activity, constitutive activation and hormone induced signaling (Agrawal and Dighe, 2009; Hamidi et al., 2011; Kleinau et al., 2011; Sangkuhl et al., 2002; Vlaeminck-Guillem et al., 2002).

Several important residues that greatly contribute to receptor signaling are located in this region. It has been shown that the sulfated tyrosine in the 'hinge' region (Y335 of FSHR, Y331 of LHR and Y385 of TSHR) is required for hormone recognition and signaling (Costagliola et al., 2002). Mutations of a single residue in each of the three GPHRs (S273 of FSHR, S277 of LHR, S281 of TSHR) result in stronger activation of the receptor (Duprez et al., 1997; Gruters et al., 1998; Kopp et al., 1997; Nakabayashi et al., 2000). TSHR mutations of D403, E404, N406 and two consecutive cysteine residues, C283S and/or C284S, led to increased constitutive activation of the receptor (Ho et al., 2001). Stepwise deletion studies revealed that the absence of sequence motif 371–384 before the sulfated tyrosine 385 caused constitutive activation of the TSHR (Mizutori et al., 2008). Despite the demonstrated importance of this region, understanding how it functions has been lacking due to the absence of a 3D model of this region.

5.2. Earlier models of the 'signal specificity domain'

Several homology modeling studies on this region have been published (Kleinau et al., 2004; Kleinau and Krause, 2009; Majumdar et al., 2012; Miguel et al., 2004; Moyle et al., 2004; Puett et al., 2010; Rapoport and McLachlan, 2007). Kleinau et al. (2004) reasoned early on that the Nogo receptor structure (He et al., 2003) was a more appropriate template than RI for GPHRs and correctly assigned β strands up to LRR11. For the 'hinge' region, they modeled part of that region using the complex of interleukin-8 and its receptor as a template. Two other groups (Miguel et al., 2004; Moyle et al., 2004), in contrast, modeled the whole 'hinge' region as a separate domain by using tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases 2 and Menkes copper-transporting ATPase as templates, respectively. Retrospectively, these structures were not the best templates for modeling the sequence region. For example, Krause and coworkers (Krause et al., 2012) noticed that none of the published theoretical GPHR models correctly predicted the cysteine-linked helical structural element and the last β-strand, both of which have been revealed by the recently determined crystal structure of FSH bound to the entire ectodomain of its receptor (Jiang et al., 2012).

5.3. Architecture of the entire ectodomain of FSHR

To clarify the role of the 'hinge' region in signal transduction as well as to help solve the above mentioned controversies, the structure of FSH bound to the entire ectodomain of the receptor (FSHR_{ED}) was recently determined (PDB: 4AY9) (Jiang et al., 2012). An expectation was that the juxtamembrane 'hinge' region or signal specificity domain would form a distinct structure apart from the LRR fold of the hormone-binding segment (Gadkari et al., 2007; Kleinau et al., 2004; Latif et al., 2009; Moyle et al., 2005). Instead, this new structure revealed that the 'hinge' region and the N-terminal hormone-binding region form an integral domain (Fig. 6). The signal specificity sequence adds two additional β -strands (LRRs 11 and 12) and a helix to the first 10 LRRs revealed in the Fan-Hendrickson structure. The activation-sensitive residue S273 is located in the unique helix, which engages two other parts of the ectodomain with disulfide bridges. One disulfide bond is formed with the N-terminal hormone-binding LRRs and the other disulfide bond establishes a short chain link to the seven-helical transmembrane domain (7TM). This helix imposes a strong conformational restraint on the ectodomain with respect to the 7TM domain, which is essential for signaling. A long loop insertion, from one end of the pivot helix to the beginning of the last β strand, harbors the sulfated Y335. A long stretch of residues (295-330) is conformationally disordered at the middle of the loop. Neutralizing antibody studies have identified an epitope in this disordered region (Lindau-Shepard et al., 2001). The so-called 'C-peptide' in TSHR, for its unique cleavable 50 amino-acid insertion (Rapoport et al., 1998), is also located within the corresponding disordered stretch.



Fig. 6. FSHR_{ED} structural architecture. (a) Schematic diagram of the topology of the FSHR structure. The regular secondary structure elements of LRRs are shown as arrows for the β -strands and as a cylinder for the α -helix, and disulfide bonds are shown as yellow lines. HBSD: Hormone-binding subdomain; SSSD: signal specificity subdomain; 7TM: seven transmembrane domain which is not included in the crystal structure and shown in grey. (b) Ribbon representation of FSHR_{ED}. The hormone-binding subdomain is shown in yellow, and the signal specificity subdomain (hinge region) is shown in magenta. Sulfated Y335 side-chain atoms are shown as balls. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

5.4. FSHR mosaic LRRs inform a generalized prediction for curvatures in other proteins with mosaic LRRs

As Fan and Hendrickson (2005) have noticed, the LRR curvatures in FSHR_{HB} are gradually steepened from N-terminus to the C-terminus. This trend is maintained in LRRs 11 and 12 in the 'hinge' region. These 12 inner β strands with progressively steepened curvature form a sleigh-like sheet (Fig. 7a). A question is whether the curvature is coded in the amino acid sequence of each repeat.

The origin of a curvature comes from the dimensional difference between the inner and outer surfaces. Fig. 7b illustrates the cause of curvature formation, when the width of an inner element which is represented by line AB, is shorter than the width of its counterpart on the outer surface, represented by line CD. For LRRs, the dimension of each inner β strand is similar, because its backbone is in an almost fully extended conformation. The ß strands are adjacent to each other forming a β sheet with an extensive hydrogenbond network in the backbone of adjacent strands. Side chains often point in or out perpendicularly to the sheet in an alternate fashion; thus, the side chains occupy the sheet surface in an economical manner, and the "sideways" distance between adjacent $C\alpha$ atoms in hydrogen-bonded β strands is about 5 Å (Creighton, 1992). This short dimension is the reason that β strands are frequently found in the inner surface of LRRs. With the inner surface width fixed, the width of the LRR outer surface will determine the curvature. The wider the outer surface, the steeper the LRR curvature.

A number of descriptors have been used to calculate the curvature of a general surface (Sternberg, 2012). Several groups applied the concept to biological molecules (Coleman et al., 2005; Goodsell and Dickerson, 1994; Koh et al., 2006). For β-sheets, the twist property further complicates a curvature calculation (Weatherford and Salemme, 1979). The analysis of LRR curvature of parallel β-sheets involves first trimming away flanking regions or other irregular elements from each LRR. This leaves an isolated β sheet, constituting part of a circle. This partial circle is then used as a building block to construct a whole circle. The number of β strands for a full circle is counted by looking down the super β sheet along the twisting axis. Using this empirical approach, the following paragraphs will describe the curvature of a LRR structure in terms of number of β strands to complete a circle where the bigger the number, the flatter the surface. A positive number means a concaved β sheet, and a negative number depicts a convex β surface. Left out is a description of the degree of twist as that is beyond the scope of this article.

The 11 complete LRRs in FSHR can be categorized into three groups based on their sequences in the outer surface segments (Fig. 7c). The LRRs in the first group include LRRs 2–4 and 6–7. The sequence motif of this group in the outer surface segment is IxxxAF (AF motif), where 'A' is sometimes substituted by other small residues. The prototypic LRR in this category is in the Nogo receptor (He et al., 2003), characterized by its relative flat curvature. It would take 42 such repeats to complete a circle (Fig. 7d). The second group contains LRRs 1, 5, 8–10, and its sequence motif in the outer surface segment is LPxxL (LP motif). The prototype of



Fig. 7. LRR curvature. (a) Sleigh-like curvature of the twelve LRRs in the ectodomain of FSHR. Only the parallel β strands in the inner surface of LRRs are shown. (b) Schematic illustration of the origin of a curvature. (c) Sequence alignment of twelve LRRs. Highlighted are buried residues (mainly L, I, F, N and P) at structurally equivalent positions. Cyan is for residues within inner parallel β -sheet, yellow for those on upper rim, grey for outer segments and pink for lower rim. The α -helix residues in LRR11 are shown in bold and underlined. Dashes indicate gaps introduced for the alignment, and symbol (hps) denotes an inserted 59-residue hairpin sequence that is omitted in the sequence alignment. (d) Illustration of curvature of three different LRR types from reconstructed circles of β strands. In each type, the parallel β strands of a typical inner-surface segment are extracted from the corresponding structure and the arc segment is repeated until it completes a smooth circle. In cyan is the reconstructed circle from the β strands of the sequence T84 to L233 of the Nogo receptor (pdb code: 10ZN), in green from the β strands of the sequence T58 to L202 of the platelet-receptor glycoprotein Ib α (gpIb α) (pdb code: 1P8V), and in magenta from the β strands of the sequence Q184 to N236 of the S-phase kinase-associated protein 2 (PDB: 2AST). (e) Crystal structure of the Bacteroides ovatus hypothetical LRR protein (PDB: 4FS7). The N-terminal flanking cap is colored grey and the LRR structure is colored green. Shown in yellow sticks are the side chains in the consensus sequence (Fig. 7f) residues LP or F. (f) Sequence alignment and secondary structure profile for the leucine-rich repeats of the Bacteroides ovatus protein. Consensus L/V/I/F/C residues are shaded in grey. Other consensus residues are colored cyan. The dashes denote gaps. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

this LRR structure is in the platelet-receptor glycoprotein lb α (gplb α) (Huizinga et al., 2002). Its curvature is steeper than that of the first group, requiring 28 repeats to complete a circle. The LRR 11 belongs to the third group where it contains an alpha helix. As the α -helix in the outer surface of the repeat has a wider dimension, it would only take 22 repeats to complete a circle, making the curvature of this type of LRRs the steepest among the three groups. Thus, the gradually steepening curvature of the ectodomain is the result of the sequential mosaics of different types of LRRs in the ectodomain of the receptor.

To test if the different curvatures are due to the difference in sequence motifs or different overall sequence environments, the PDB database (Bernstein et al., 1977) was searched for other LRR examples containing these two motifs. We found a LRR structure containing both the LP and AF motifs (PDB: 4FS7). This LRR protein (BACOVA_04585) from Bacteroides ovatus contains two motifs that are on the opposite sides in each repeat, where the 'spine'forming phenylalanines (He et al., 2003) oppose the leucines in the hydrophobic core of the LRR structure (Fig. 7e). The residue after the consensus β strand leucine residue is proline (Fig. 7e and f). A combination of the requirement of the leucine side chain pointing straight towards the interior hydrophobic core and the restraint of proline main-chain conformation (Anderson et al., 2005) predisposes the proline rings to orient sideways, demanding wider spaces for the associated β strands than normal β strands. When the LP-motif-containing β strand is wider than the AF-motif-containing β -turns on the opposite side, it creates an 'inverted' LRR structure where the parallel β -sheets are on the outer convex side instead of the inner concave surface found in a typical LRR structure (Fig. 7e).

Careful examination of the 4FS7 structure led to other interesting observations. The leucine and phenylalanine residues in LRR7 (Fig. 7e) are reversed, as compared to those in LRRs 1–6. Since the phenylalanine side-chain is larger than a leucine side chain, the dimensional difference between the FP and AL motifs is larger than the difference between the typical LP and AF motifs, creating steeper 'inverse' curvature. The space demanded for phenylalanine in the LP motif is on the right while that for the proline is on the left when the β strand arrows are pointed down and the proline residues are in the β strands. Indeed, the β strands between LRRs 7 and 8 are wider than others due to F235 in LRR7 and P258 in LRR8 (Fig. 7e). In contrast, LRRs 9–11 lack the proline residues as found in LRRs 1-8 and 12-13. Without the proline residues, the space requirements for the β strands are smaller. Consequently, the local β sheet for LRRs 8–11 is on a 'normal' concaved surface (same as the 'Phe-spine' LRRs in the Nogo receptor), within an environment of the overall 'inversed' convex surface. These observations strengthen the notion that using AF and LP motifs can explain the steepening curvatures in FSHR LRRs.

Furthermore, based on the above analysis, the following types of LRR elements with increasing dimensions can be proposed:

Normal' β strand < AF β -turn < LP β -turn < FP β -turn < helix

Identification of such LRR element types may be useful when modeling new LRR structures, particularly when attempting to predict their curvatures. For example, suppose there is a new LRR protein with 5 repeats of Nogo receptor type, followed by 3 repeats of gplb α type, 3 repeats of 4FS7 typical LRRs and 2 repeats of RI type. Traditional modeling approaches, such as threading, would fail to generate a 3D model with a high confidence. Yet, with the identification of each LRR element as illustrated above, the model can be easily constructed by incorporating relevant LRR modules from appropriate structures and linking these modules by superimposing the joining repeats to mosaic modules such as the LRRs from 4FS7 and FSHR_{ED}. One example: joining the Nogo receptor LRRs and gplb α LRRs can be done by simply superimposing the last repeat from Nogo LRR to LRR7 of FSHR_{ED} and the first repeat of gplb α LRR to LRR8 of FSHR_{ED}.

5.5. FSH–FSHR_{ED} has a broader interface than FSH–FSHR_{HB}

A significant but not unexpected finding of the new FSH-FSHR_{ED} structure was a greater buried solvent accessible surface area (SASA) and more rigid FSH conformation, suggesting that FSH interacts with FSHR_{ED} more tightly than FSHR_{HB}. The conformations of FSH in the FSHR_{ED}-bound form and in the FSHR_{HB}bound form are almost identical to each other (overall $C\alpha$ r.m.s.d. of 0.5 Å between the two forms). However, a small but noticeable 0.4 Å translation of FSH horizontally towards FSHR_{ED}, as compared to $FSH-FSHR_{HB}$ (Fig. 5f), resulted in the greater buried SASA and more rigid FSH conformation. The buried SASA in the FSH-FSHR_{HB} interface is 2600 Å²; this area has been increased 1000 Å² to 3600 $Å^2$ in the FSH–FSHR_{ED} interface. When the same set of atoms in FSH-FSHR_{HB} complex was used in the calculation, the buried SASA in the FSH–FSHR_{ED} interface was 2850 Å². Therefore, the 250 Å^2 difference comes from the horizontal translation of FSH towards the receptor within $\text{FSH}-\text{FSHR}_{\text{ED}}$ as compared to FSH- $FSHR_{HB}$. We further calculated the overall C α r.m.s.d. of FSH in the FSHR_{ED}-bound structure, which is 0.2 Å as compared to 0.7 Å in the FSHR_{HB}-bound structure. Therefore, the FSH conformation in the FSHR_{FD}-bound form has been further stabilized compared to the FSHR_{HB}-bound form. There is little conformational change in the hormone-binding subdomain of the receptor (overall Ca r.m.s.d. of 0.6 Å for residues C18-Y250 in the two forms), except for a few C-terminal FSHR_{HB} residues whose conformation is disrupted due to lack of the integral 'hinge' subdomain (Fig. 5h). The conformational variations of FSHR_{ED} residues are mainly from

the hairpin loop within the 'hinge' subdomain, due to the absence of 7TM domain that might stabilize the loop. The overall C α r.m.s.d. is 1.3 Å (residues C18-I359) as compared to 0.6 Å for the N-terminal subdomain (C18-Y250).

5.6. A second FSH-FSHR interaction site

The driving force for tighter FSH interaction with FSHR_{ED} (as compared to FSHR_{HB}) is mainly from the second FSH-FSHR interaction site which contains a sulfated tyrosine site. A sulfated tyrosine in the 'hinge' region of the GPHRs (FSHR Y335, LHR Y331, TSHR Y385) has been shown in several functional studies to be indispensable for hormone recognition and signaling (Bonomi et al., 2006; Bruysters et al., 2008; Costagliola et al., 2002). The new structure (liang et al., 2012) reveals a detailed interaction between FSH, the sulfated tyrosine (sTyr) and FSHR residues in its vicinity. Buried in the interface are residues P290-I291, N293, E332, D334. sTyr335 and L337 from FSHR and N15-F18a, Q27a, F74a, R35b, L37-Y39^β, P45^β and K49^β from FSH. Multiple hydrogen bonds are found between the sTyr335 sulfate group and residues (N15a, Q27 α , V38 β and Y39 β) at the sTyr-binding-pocket in FSH. There is also a salt bridge formed between E332 of FSHR and K49ß of FSH (Fig. 8a).

The sTyr binding pocket is formed at the interface between FSH α and β chains (Fig. 8a). Hydrophobic residues dominate at the bottom of the pocket where α subunit is the main contributor. The top of the pocket is a positive electrostatic surface, contributed by β chain short-range residue R35 and long-range residue K49 (Fig. 8b). The multiple hydrophobic residues build a necessary low dielectric-constant microenvironment to accommodate the Y335's hydrophobic phenyl ring and enhance Coulomb charge-charge attraction between the sulfate ion and the positive potentials lining the ceiling of the pocket.

FSH changes a loop conformation dramatically in order to form the sTyr-binding pocket. The $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop (residues from V38 β to Q48 β), roughly half of the building block of the pocket, swings \sim 10 Å from the open and loose conformation in the free form to the closed and rigid conformation in the receptor-bound form (Fig. 8c). Interestingly, the $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop conformations in two FSHRbound forms (i.e., in the FSH–FSHR_{HB} and FSH–FSHR_{ED} complexes) are nearly identical (Fig. 8c and d). The formation of the sTyr pocket is induced by the act of binding, independent of the presence of sulfated tyrosine, because the FSHR_{HB} lacks the sTyr residue, but the binding pocket on FSH has already been formed in the FSH-FSHR_{HB} complex. Interestingly, a sulfate ion occupied the sTyr pocket on the FSHR_{HB}-bound FSH when 0.1M Li₂SO₄ was used in the crystallization buffer (Fan and Hendrickson, 2005). In contrast, the sulfate ion was not present in the pocket in the free-form FSH when a higher concentration of 0.9-1.2 M ammonium sulfate was used in the crystallization (Fox et al., 2001). No sulfate-containing salt was used to obtain the FSH–FSHR_{ED} crystals (Jiang et al., 2012). These data indicate that the act of FSH binding to the hormonebinding subdomain of FSHR is sufficient to form the sTyr-binding pocket.

In addition to interacting with sTyr335 and its neighboring residues, FSH residues in the pocket-forming $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop interact considerably with FSHR residues on the inner LRR concave surface (Fig. 8a, left inset). Buried in this interface are residues D196-E197, V221-I222, K242-K243, R245 and M265 of FSHR and K40-R44 and K46 of FSH β . Among these residues, FSHR E197 salt-bridges with FSH R44 β , and E197 and K243 of FSHR form hydrogen bonds with R44 and A43 of FSH β , respectively.

It is worth pointing out that there are two extra residues (K44-Y45) in the TSH β chain, which if present in FSH β chain, would reside between residues R44 and P45. These extra residues are predicted to be buried in the complex formed with TSHR;



Fig. 8. A second FSH–FSHR_{ED} interaction site. (a) The sulfate-binding pocket formed at the interface of FSH α and β subunits (shown in green and blue surfaces, respectively) once FSH binds FSHR_{ED} (shown as magenta ribbons). Sulfated FSHR Y335 is shown as balls. Left inset: Zoomed region to show that newly formed FSH pocket is structurally supported by the hydrophobic interactions between the left wall of the pocket and the FSHR residues around V221 and I222. Right inset: a close-up view of the FSH–FSHR_{ED} residues around the sulfated tyrosine-binding pocket. (b) Importance of electrostatic potential of FSH in lifting the sTyr335 of FSHR hairpin for receptor activation. Negative potential is colored red, and positive potential is colored blue. FSHR_{ED} is represented as magenta ribbons, with the side chain of sulfated Y335 shown as balls. (c) Comparison of the $\mathcal{L}\beta$ loop of FSH in free form (red wire) and FSHR_{ED}-bound form (brown wire). FSH α -subunit is shown as green ribbons, and the rest of the β -subunit is shown as balls as a reference. The orientations of FSH in left and right panels are related by a rotation of 60°. Residues around A43 β in the $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop of FSH swing ~10 Å from the free form to the FSHR_{ED}-bound form to form the sulfate-binding pocket. (d) Surface representations show the rearrangement of the FSH $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop on receptor binding. FSH α - and β -subunits are colored green and blue, respectively. Sulfated FSHR Y335 is shown as colored balls in the right panel as observed in the FSH–FSHR_{ED} crystal structure or as grey balls in the middle panel to mark the would-be position in the FSH–FSHR_{HB} crystal structure. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the we version of this article.)

therefore, the hormone-receptor interface in this region would be more extensive for TSH-TSHR complex than FSH–FSHR or LH/CG-LHR complexes. This is consistent with the notion that TSHR residues encoded by exons beyond exon7 do play significant roles in hormone binding (Kosugi et al., 1991; Mizutori et al., 2008; Mueller et al., 2008), in contrast to the insignificant gonadotropin-binding roles for the corresponding residues in LHR or FSHR (Braun et al., 1991; Moyle et al., 1994). It should also be noted that although an earlier molecular modeling study of TSH-TSHR complex (Miguel et al., 2008) suggested that TSHR residue E251 (corresponding to FSHR K243 and LHR R247) contributed to hormone binding by forming a salt bridge with TSH residue K44 β , E251K mutant had little effect on TSH binding but reduced signal transduction in terms of cAMP production (Chen et al., 2010).

6. Structure-based receptor activation mechanism in the hormone-receptor monomer complex

6.1. Significance of the 'hinge' disulfide bonds in signal transduction

The ectodomain contains two peculiar sequence motifs coupled by three disulfide bonds. The three disulfide bonds and the

sequence motifs in the 'hinge' region are remarkably positioned to transduce signal effectively from the hormone-binding subdomain to the transmembrane domain. The L264-R298 residues correspond to the previously identified sequence motif CF3, known as a C-terminal LRR capping domain, uniquely existing in GPCR proteins (Kajava, 1998). The second sequence motif consists of the residues of Y322-R366, right before the beginning of the transmembrane domain. The intronic sequences at the analogous position of LHR residue Y317 correspond to the promoter and other regulatory regions of the intronless genes of other G-protein-coupled receptors, such as the β-adrenergic receptor and rhodopsin (Gromoll et al., 1996; Koo et al., 1991). Thus, the second motif of GPHRs corresponds to the N-terminal extracellular loop of the rhodopsin-like domain. The three cysteine residues of the CF3 motif (FSHR: C275, Cys276, Cys292) are linked respectively by disulfide bonds to the cysteines of the rhodopsin-like extracellular loop (FSHR: C346, C356, C338) (Bruysters et al., 2008; Jiang et al., 2012). In this aspect, the two chains in TSHR after protease cleavage (Rapoport and McLachlan, 2007) are equivalent to two separate protein molecules linked by three disulfide bridges: one is a LRR and the other the rhodopsin-like protein, supporting the proposed model for the evolution of diverse LRR-containing genes (Hsu et al., 1998).

Among the three disulfide bonds, the two in the helix play a pivot role in transducing the hormone binding signal to the transmembrane domain of the receptor. The helix is locked into the space between the hormone-binding subdomain on the N-terminus and the last short loop before the first transmembrane helix on the C-terminus by two disulfide bonds, one on each side. Signals occurring at the N-terminus can be faithfully transduced via this locked helix (see the proposed mechanism below).

6.2. Proposed receptor activation mechanism

As discussed earlier, the sTyr-binding pocket on FSH does not exist in the free form. Rather, it is formed post hormone binding to its receptor in the absence or presence of the 'hinge' domain. This knowledge led to the following proposal of two-step receptor activation mechanism (Jiang et al., 2012) shown schematically in Fig. 9.

Upon FSH approaching the large and high-affinity inner concave surface of hormone-binding subdomain (LRRs 1–8) of FSHR, the initial high affinity interaction causes the FSH $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop to adopt the "swung in" conformation, leading to an additional hydrophobic interaction between the $\mathcal{L}2\beta$ loop of FSH and FSHR residues around β strands of LRR 8/9, as well as the formation of a sTyr-binding pocket at the interface of the FSH α - and β -subunits (Fig. 8a). Then, FSH utilizes the nascent pocket to draw the sulfated Y335 in. Binding of the sulfated Y335 to the sTyr pocket of FSH lifts the hairpin loop linked by the disulfide bond between C338 and C292. The lift of the hairpin loop and activates the 7TM domain.

The LRR11 helix hosts two consecutive cysteine residues (C275 and C276) that play an important role in receptor activation. The disulfide bond, formed by C275 and C346 fastens the last LRR β strand to the helix to form a rigid body. The hairpin loop looks like a purse string, with one end attached to the helix and the other to the β strand. The other disulfide bond, formed by C276 and C356, ties the helix to the last a few residues before the first transmembrane helix (TM1) (Fig. 6a). Due to these constraints, in addition to the rigidity of the LRR domain, movement of the last β -strand, whether by lifting the hairpin loop directly or via other interactions, will be passed on to the residues on or close to TM1 on the other side of the helix. Conceivably, the combination of lift of the hairpin loop and rotation of the helix would lead to conformational change of the transmembrane domain and activation of the receptore.



Fig. 9. Schematic diagram of the proposed two-step receptor activation mechanism of FSHR monomer. The FSHR extracellular LRRs, in a putative orientation relative to the seven-transmembrane (7TM) domain, are shown as magenta blocks with a hairpin loop, and the 7TM domain is shown as a cylinder with the inactivated state colored gray and the activated state colored green. The hormone-binding subdomain is labeled as HBSD, and signal specificity subdomain is labeled as SSSD. Sulfated Y335 is shown as a yellow ball, residue S271 is shown as a green star, and disulfide bonds as yellow jagged lines. Heterotrimeric Gs or β -arrestin is indicated by green ellipsoid. FSH is shown as a blue ellipsoid. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

tor. This activation mechanism could be mimicked by a simple rotation of the helix, such as switching the hydrophilic S273 to a hydrophobic residue. Indeed, S273I mutation leads to constitutive activation of the receptor (Nakabayashi et al., 2000). In addition, the constitutively activating mutations in the ectodomain are concentrated on or around the pivotal helix residues (Krause et al., 2012), including the two consecutive cysteine residues (Ho et al., 2001).

This above activation model for monomeric receptors has been consistent with a number of experimental observations. The gonadotropin α-chain mutations Q13K, E14K, P16K, and Q20K convert human TSH into a superagonist (Szkudlinski et al., 1996); these mutations are concentrated near the top right side of the pocket, generating additional positive charges for a stronger anodic potential to pull the hairpin loop further to the top right (Fig. 8b). Various deletion experiments on the extracellular portion resulted in partial activation of FSHR and TSHR. leading to the proposal that there is an extracellular "intramolecular tethered inverse agonist" that suppresses the 7TM constitutive activity (Chen et al., 2003; Ho et al., 2005; Vlaeminck-Guillem et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2000). The "tethered inverse agonist" region in the ectodomain has been further mapped to the hairpin segment 296-331 in FSHR (Agrawal and Dighe, 2009). This proposal has further been supported by the enhanced signaling effect of two FSH mutants that were designed to push the hairpin loop up towards the ceiling of the sTyr pocket (Fig. 8b) (Jiang et al., 2012). We also noticed that the charges of a neighboring pair of residues, K243 and E266 in FSHR, are retained in LHR (corresponding to R247 and E270) but reversed in TSHR (corresponding to E251 and R274). These residues are near the low left corner to the sTyr pocket in the complex structure. A TSHR E266K mutation would enhance the electropositive potential on the low left side of the pocket and make the sTyr less likely to be pulled to the top right side. This might explain the reduced signal activity of equivalent E251K mutant of TSHR (Chen et al., 2010).

7. Towards understanding the 7TM domain

Understanding the 7TM domain is important because it is where the receptor transduces its extracellular signal across the membrane into the cell. For pharmaceutical companies committed to developing innovative medicines targeting the GPHRs, the goal is to develop a generation of orally bioavailable non-peptide small molecules with MW less than or around 500 Da that induce signal transduction and other biological functions similar to GPHs. To this date, there are over 170 small molecules targeting GPHRs listed in Thomson Reuters' Integrity Database (http://integrity.thomsonpharma.com). While the small molecule mimetics might not all bind to the 7TM domain, the binding region of three tested molecules has been mapped to the 7TM domain (Bruysters et al., 2008; van Koppen et al., 2013; Yanofsky et al., 2006). Using the 7TMbinding small molecule as a tool, Bruysters and coworkers (Bruysters et al., 2008) have successfully identified three pairs of disulfide bonds in the 'hinge' region. These studies demonstrate that the small molecules are allosteric modulates that directly bind to the 7TM, instead of the LRR domain where GPHs bind. In this regard, it is highly desirable to have a 7TM structure not only to gain insight into GPH signaling but also to assist design of orally bioavailable drugs.

7.1. Molecular modeling of the 7TM domain

In light of a large number of GPCR crystal structures determined in recent years, effort has been made to model the 7TM domains of GPHRs (Kleinau et al., 2013; Puett et al., 2010). The quality of these theoretical models depends greatly on the choice of template

			TM1 TM2	
а	FSHR	367	VLIWFISILAITGNIIVLVILTTSQYKLTVPRFLMCNLAFADLCIGIYLLLIASVDIHTKSQYHNYAIDWQTGA-G	441
	LHR	366	VLIWLINILAIMGNMTVLFVLLTSRYKLTVPRFLMCNLSFADFCMGLYLLLIASVDSQTKGQYYNHAIDWQTGS-G	438
	TSHR	419	TVWFVSTTALLCNVFVTTTTTTSHYKTNVPRFTMCNTAFADFCMGMYLLLTASVDTYTHSEYYNHATDWOTGP-G	493
	ADRB2	34	VCMCTUMSTITUTATVECNVLWTTATAKEERIOTVTNYFITSLACAR TVMCLAVVPECAAHTIMKMWTECNEW	105
	ODED	20		100
	DESD	50		109
	AAZAR		SVIITVELATAVLAILGUVLVCWAVWENSNLQUVTNIFVVSLAAADTAVGVLAIPPAITIS-TGFCAACHG	/6
	DRD3	30	AYYALSYCALILAIVF <mark>GN</mark> GL <mark>VCMAVLKERALQTTTNYLVVSLAVADL</mark> LVATLVMPWVVYLEVTGGV <mark>W</mark> NFSRIC	102
	OPRM1	69	ITIMALYSIVCVVGLF <mark>GN</mark> FL <mark>V</mark> MYVIVRYTKMKTATNIYIFNLALADALATSTLPFQSVNYLMGTWPFGNIL	139
	PAR1	103	LFVPSVYTGVFVVSLPLNIMAIVVFILKMKVKKPAVVYMLHLATADVLFVSVLPFKISYYFSGSDWOFGSEL	174
			TM3 TM4	
	FCHD	442		512
	LUD	420		512
	LIK	435		509
	TSHR	494	CNTAGFFTVFASELSVITLTVITLERWIAITFAMRLDRKIRLRHACAIMVGGWVCCFLLALDPLVG-ISSIA	564
	ADRB2	106	CEFWISIDVLCVTASIETLCVIAVDRYFAITSPFKYQSLLTKNKARVIILMVWIVSGLTSFLPIQMHWYRATHQEAI	186
	OPSD	110	CNLEGFFATLGGEIALWSLVVLAIERYVVVCKPMSNFRFGENHAIMGVAFTWVMALACAAPPLVG-WSRYIP	182
	AA2AR	77	CLFIACFVLVLTQS <mark>S</mark> IFSLLAIAIDRYIAIRIPLRYNGLVTGTRAKGIIAICWVLSFAIGLTPMLG-WNNCGQP∫∫Q	157
	DRD3	103	CDVFVTLDVMMCTASILNLCAISIDRYTAVVMPVHYQHGTGQSSCRRVALMITAVWVLAFAVS-CPLLFGFNTTG	176
	OPRM1	140	CKIVISIDYYNMFT <mark>SIFTLCTMSVDRY</mark> IAVCHPVKALDFRTPRNAKIVNVCNWILSSAIG-L B VMFMATTKYR	211
	PAR1	175	CREVTAAFYCNMYASTULMTVISTDRFLAVVYPMOSLSWRTLGRASFTCLATWALAIAGV-VEULLKEOTIOVP	247
			TTM 5	
	FSHR	512		572
	TUD	510		572
	LHK	510		569
	TSHR	565	YNPGDKDTKIAK	024
	ADRB2	187	NCYANETC <mark>C</mark> DFFTNQAYALASSIVSFYV E LVIMVFV <mark>M</mark> SRVFQEAKRQLQKIDKSJJGLRRSSKFC <u>L</u> KE <u>H</u> K <mark>A</mark> L	272
	OPSD	183	EGMQCS <mark>C</mark> GIDYYTPHEETNNESFVIYMFVVHFII <mark>P</mark> LIVIFFC <mark>Y</mark> GQLVFTVKEAAAQQQESATTQKAEKEVT	251
	AA2AR	158	GCGEGQVA <mark>C</mark> LFEDVVPMNYMVYFNFFACVLV <mark>P</mark> LLLMLGV <mark>Y</mark> LR I FLAARRQLKQMESQPLPGERARSTLQKEVH <mark>A</mark> A	232
	DRD3	177	DPTV <mark>C</mark> SISNPDFVIYSSVVSFYL <mark>P</mark> FGVTVLV <mark>Y</mark> ARIYVVLKQRRRKRILT∫∫GPLQPRGVPLREKK <mark>A</mark> T	328
	OPRM1	212	OGSIDCTLTFS-HPTWYWENLLKICVFIFAFIMPVLIITVCYGLMILRLKSVRMLSGSKEKDRNLRRIT	279
	PAR1	248	GINTTTCHDVINETLIEGYYAYYESAFSAVEFEVPLIISTVCYVSTIRCLSSSAVANRSKKSRAI	312
		210		012
			TMG TM7 bolize	
	DOUD	670		C 4 0
	FSHR	575	RMAMLIFIDE - LOMAFISFFAISASL-KVPLII-VSKAKILLVLEHPINSCANFFLIAIFIKNFRKDEFILLSKOGCIE	040
	LHR	570	KMAILIFTDF-TCMAPISFFAISAAF-KVPLIT-VINSKVLLVLFYPINSCANPFLYAIFTKTFQRDFFLLLSKFGCCK	645
	TSHR	625	RMAVLIFTDF-ICMAPISFYALSAIL-NKPLIT-VSNSKILLVLFYPLNSCANPFLYAIFTKAFQRDVFILLSKFGICK	700
	ADRB2	273	KTLGIIMGTFTL <mark>CWL</mark> FFIVNIVHVI-QDNLIRKEVYILLNWIGYV <mark>NS</mark> GF NP LI <mark>Y</mark> C-RSPDFRIAFQELLCLRRSSL	347
	OPSD	252	RMVIIMVIA <mark>f</mark> li CwlP yagvAfyifthqgsdfgpifmtipaffaktsavy nP vI <mark>y</mark> iMMNKQ <mark>FR</mark> NCMVTT <mark>L</mark> CCGKNPL	328
	AA2AR	233	KSLAIIVGLFALCWLPLHIINCFTFFCPDCSHA-PLWLMYLAIVLSHT <mark>NS</mark> VVNPFIYAYRIREFRQTFRKIIRSHVLRQ	310
	DRD3	329	OMVAIVLGAFIVCWLPFFLTHVLNTHCOTCHVSPELYSATTWLGYVNSALNPVIYTTFNIEFRKAFLKILSC	400
	OPRM1	280	RMVLVVVAVETVOWTETTIVTTKALTTTPETTFOTVSWHECTALGYTNSCINEVI,VAFLDENEKBOFREECTPTSSTT	358
	PAR1	313	FI.SAAWECTETTO FOOTNULLTAHYSELSHTST (VEAVLLCVCVSSISCIDPLLYYYASSECORYVYST COKESSD	393
		0 = 0		
			TM1 ICL1 TM2 ECL1	
h	FSHR	367	VI. TWRTSTIATTCNTTVI.VII.PTSOYKI.TVPRFIMCNI.ARADI.CTCTVII.I.TASVDTHTKSOYHNYATDWOTCA	- <mark>c</mark> 441
D.	TUD	266		0 120
	LUK	500	VIIWIINILAIMGNMIVEPVEEISKIKEIVPKPEMCNESPADFCMGEIEEEIKSVDSQIRGQIINNAIDWQIGS	-G 430
	TSHR	419	IVVWFVSLLALLGNVFVLLILLTSHYKLNVPRFLMCNLAFADFCMGMYLLLIASVDLYTHSEYYNHAIDWQTGP	- <mark>G</mark> 493
	ADRB2	38	IVMSLIVLAIVFGNVLVITAIAKFERLQTVTNYFITSLACADLVMGLAVVPFGAAHILMKWWTFGN	<mark>FW</mark> 105
	OPSD	42	2 AYMFLLIMLGFPINFLTLYVTVQHKKLRTPLNYILLNLAVA D LFMVFGGFTTTLYTSLHG - YFVFGP	TG 109
	AA2AR	11	TVELAIAVLAILGNVLVCWAVWLNSNLONVTNYFVVSLAAADIAVGVLAIPFAITIS-TGFCAAC	HG 76
	DOUD	440		E10
	FSHK	442	CDAAGFFIVEASELSVIILIAIILEKWHIIIHAMQLDCKVQLRHAASVMVMGWIFAFAAALFPIFG-ISSIM	512
	LHR	439	CSTAGFFTVFASELSVYTLTVITLERWHTITYAIHLDOKLRLRHAILIMLGGWLFSSLIAMLPLVG-VSNYM	<mark></mark> 509
	TSHR	494	CNTAGFFTVFASELSVYTLTVITLERWYAITFAMRLDRKIRLRHACAIMVGGWVCCFLLALLPLVG-ISSYA	 564
	ADRB2	106	CEFWTSIDVLCVTASIETLOVIAVDRYFAITSPFKYOSLLTKNKARVIILMVWIVSGLTSFLPIOMHWYRATHO	EAI 186
	OPSD	110		 182
		77	CIETACEVIVITOSSIESIIAIAIDEVIAIDIDI DVNCIVECTOAVCIIAICUVIISEAICI TOMICUVICOD	ffo 157
	11112111			JJQ 107
	DOUD	E 1 0		
	r'SHK	STG	IVSICEPHDIDSPESQEYVMSEEVENVEARVVICGCITHTIETVKNPNIVSSSSDTR	LAK 5/2
	LHR	510	kvsicFPMDVETILSQVYILTILILNVVAFFIICACYIKIYFAVRNPE	la <mark>k</mark> 569
	TSHR	565	KVSICFPMDTETPLALAYIVFVLTLNIVAFVIVCCCYVKIYITVRNPQYNPGDKDTK	IA <mark>K</mark> 624
	ADRB2	187	NCYANETCCDFFINOAYAIASIVSEYVPLVTMVEVYSRVFOEAKROLOKTDÍ Í URBSSKECLKEH	KAL 272
	OPSD	183		EVT 251
		150		UVV 000
	HAZAR	T 2 8	GCGEGQVACLFEDVVPMNIMVIFNFFACVLVPLLLMLGVILRIFLAARKQLKQMEJJGERARSTLQKEV	паа 232
	DOUD	E		CONTR CAO
	FSHR	5/3	RMAMLIFTDF-LCMAPISFFAISASL-KVPLITVSKAKILLVLFHPINSCANPFIYAIFTKNFRRDFFILLSKC	GCYE 648
	LHR	570) <mark>KMAILIFTD</mark> F-TC <mark>MAPISFFAISAAF-KVP</mark> LI <mark>TVTNSKV</mark> LLVLFYPINS <mark>CANPFI</mark> YA <mark>IFTKT</mark> F <u>ORDFFLLLSKF</u>	G C CK 645
	TSHR	625	RMAVLIFTDF-ICMAPISFYALSAIL-NKPLI <mark>TVSNSKI</mark> LLVLFYPLNS <mark>CANP</mark> FLYA <mark>IFTKA</mark> FQRDVFILLSKF	GICK 700
	ADRB2	273	KTLGIIMGTFULCWLPFFIVNIVHVI-ODNLI-RKEVYILLNWIGYVNSGFNPLIYC-RSPDFRTAFOELLCLR	RSSL 347
	OPSD	252	RMVIIMVIAFLICWI.PYAGVAFYIFTHOGSDF-GPIFMTIPAFFAKTSAVYNPVIYIMMNKOFRNCMVTTLCCC	KNPI, 328
		233	EVEN ATTIVATED ATTIVATED AND A	VI PO 310

Fig. 10. Molecular modeling of the 7TM domains. (a) Sequence alignment of the 7TM domains of GPHRs and representative GPCRs with known crystal structures. Conserved residues across all members are colored green except for two conserved disulfide-bridging cysteine residues, which are colored yellow. Residues that are conserved in the representative GPCRs are colored magenta, and those that are only conserved in the GPHR family are colored cyan. Residues in the representative GPCR set are also colored cyan if most of them are identical to the corresponding conserved GPHR residues. Residues that are conserved in some of the sequences in both GPHRs and the representative GPCR set are shaded in grey. Gaps are represented by dash "-" symbols, and omitted residues are denoted by the symbol "ʃ]". The position of a transmembrane helix is marked as "TM" followed by a number. The last helix is marked as "helix8". Abbreviations are: ADRB2 (human β2 adrenergic receptor), OPSD (bovine rhodopsin), AA2AR (human adenosine receptor A2a), DRD3 (human D₃ dopamine receptor), OPRM1 (human µ-type opioid receptor) and PAR1 (human proteinase-activated receptor 1). (b) Templates used in the construction of GPHR models. Modeled residues in the GPHR sequences and a template sequence are colored identically where green is for ADRB2, yellow for OPSD and magenta for AA2AR, except for residues identical in both a GPHR sequence and the template sequence that are grey shaded. Loop positions are marked as either "ECL" (extracellular) or "ICL" (intracellular) followed by a number. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

structures and sequence alignment of the subject GPHR to the templates. GPHRs are members of the Family A GPCRs which have been further divided into several subfamilies. There have been conflicting classifications for GPHRs. GPHRs have been placed into the $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ subfamily which includes olfactory receptors (Fredriksson et al., 2003). This classification is posted in the widely visited GPCR network web site (http://gpcr.scripps.edu/) (Katritch et al., 2012). Featured on the web site is a recently determined crystal structure

.0

of protease-activated receptor 1 (PAR1) in the δ subfamily (PDB: 3VW7) (Zhang et al., 2012). The sequence alignment of GPHRs to PAR1, however, does not indicate that the PAR1 structure would be a good template because the percent sequence identity between GPHRs and PAR1 is at a random level. Another study (Bjarnadottir et al., 2006) has applied a similar approach of phylogenetic analysis to the 7TM regions of GPCRs and yielded a similar picture globally but different results for GPHR members. GPHRs were classified to the γ subfamily and olfactory receptors to another standalone subfamily. An alternative classification (Joost and Methner, 2002) has categorized GPHRs to an A10 subfamily. This classification is posted in a wikipedia page (wiki entry: Rhodopsin-like receptors) and adopted by a popular GPCR database web site (www.gpcr.org). There are other classifications. In two highly cited articles, GPHRs are placed into 1C subfamily (Bockaert and Pin, 1999), or grouped with opioid receptors (Gether, 2000). Interestingly, opioid receptors and GPHRs belong to two different subfamilies in two classifications. It seems that how to categorize the GPHRs in the rhodopsin-like GPCR family is still an unsettled matter, presumably due to the difficulty with grouping members together when the sequence identity level is in the twilight zone (Rost, 1999).

Rather than treating all residues equally as it is implemented in sequence identity calculations, one strategy to improve the accuracy of sequence alignment is to focus on a few key conserved amino acids. It has been observed that the conserved residues in Family A include an aspartic acid at the N-terminal TM2 helix, a DRY motif near the C-terminal TM3 helix, a proline in the middle of TM4, a WxP motif in the middle of TM6, an NP motif at the end of TM7, a disulfide bridge that connects the first and second extracellular loops (ECL1 and ECL2), and a palmitoylated cysteine in the C-terminal tail (George et al., 2002). A multiple sequence alignment is shown in Fig. 10a with the key residues highlighted. The molecular model of FSHR 7TM domain was constructed by using one structure as a master template and other structures as the supplementary templates to take advantage of the best suitable structures in different sequence regions. The β2 adrenergic receptor $(\beta_2 AR)$ was chosen as the master template for the following reasons. First, it shares as many residues with GPHR 7TM domains as any other template structure according to the alignment (Fig. 10a). Second, β_2AR is the only GPCR with a known structure in an active state in complex with G-protein $\alpha\beta\gamma$ heterotrimer (PDB: 3SN6) (Rasmussen et al., 2011). Third, β_2 AR binds external agonists or antagonists; therefore, it is an appropriate model for drug discovery. Rhodopsin was considered but excluded as the master template for three reasons: (1) it contains a pre-bound ligand, unlike GPHRs or any other known GPCRs; (2) several key residues are not present in the rhodopsin sequence, including GN in TM1, serine in TM3 and the NS motif in TM7; (3) no human rhodopsin structure is available.

Once the master template was chosen, the next step was to choose appropriate supplementary templates. Several factors were considered when choosing one supplementary template over the others for a given region: (1) minimum gap numbers and lengths, (2) maximum sequence identity with GPHRs, and (3) least number of supplementary templates so that potential coordinate incompatibilities among the templates are reduced. Thus, rhodopsin and A2A adenosine receptor were chosen as the supplementary templates (Fig. 10b). Due to high availability of inactive GPCRs, we first constructed the FSHR 7TM domain in an inactive state (Fig. 11a). The active-state model was then constructed by changing residues from the inactive-state positions to the active-state positions according to the β_2 AR structure (PDB: 3SN6) (Fig. 11b). LHR and TSHR 7TM domains were then constructed by using the FSHR model as template.

Construction of the FSHR 7TM domain in inactive state followed the priority of preserving residue conformations in templates in the order from key residues (colored green and cyan across the

subfamilies in Fig. 10a) to other conserved residues (colored yellow or grey in Fig. 10a) to the rest residues. First, the atomic coordinates of the key residues were copied from the templates. The coordinates of other conserved residues were copied directly from the templates. No atomic crashes were found in the combined model of key residues and other conserved residue. For each of the remaining TM residues, a side-chain rotamer was selected if its conformation overlapped well with that of the corresponding template residue. In a few occasions, an alternative rotamer was selected when the previously-selected conformation caused atomic crashes. The helix8 residues as well as the linking residues to TM7 were then added. The connecting loops were constructed last in the order of ECL3, intracellular loop2 (ICL2), ICL1, ECL2, ICL3 and ECL1. The resulting model was subjected to energy minimization in a reverse order of the construction: the coordinates for the ECL1 loop were minimized first while keeping the rest residues fixed. and those for the key residues were minimized last. Finally, the entire model was globally minimized.

The main factors in assessing the druggability of a protein target are the size of a binding pocket and its characteristics of hydrophobicity (Halgren, 2009; Saxena et al., 1997). The FSHR 7TM model reveals a large pocket in the top half of the 7TM domain (Fig. 11b and c) surrounded by many residues including T449, I411, L415, V450, S453, Y530, L537, S589, M585, H615, I588, S589, K608 and V612 for FSHR (Fig. 11d). On the top of this pocket is the ECL2 loop which hosts conserved residues Y511 and K513. Nineteen pocket residues in this model correspond with the signaling-sensitive residues listed in Table 1 in an earlier study of TSHR (Hoyer et al., 2013), namely V421, M463, L467, D474, T501, S505, V509, I568, L570, M572, Y582, V586, F594, F634, M637, I640, S641, L665 and Y667. Nine other listed residues (V424, Y466, A504, L507, L587, P639, F642, Y643 and L645), however, are not in the FSHR pocket. T449 of FSHR (equivalent to T501 of TSHR) has been shown to be part of the binding pocket for a small molecule allosteric modulator from a site-directed mutagenesis study (van Koppen et al., 2013).

Our 7TM models seem to be similar to those from earlier studies, but there are a few noticeable differences. The side chains of 1568 and 1640 of TSHR are contacting with each other in the model from Krause's group (Kleinau et al., 2007). This is not the case in our model. R464 and D564 in LHR form a salt bridge in another group's model (Puett et al., 2010), but not present in our model, although the likelihood of the salt bridge increases when PAR1 (PDB: 3VW7) is used as the supplement template for modeling the ICL3 region.

The 7TM extracellular loops may interact with the highly concentrated charged residues in the hairpin loop of the 'hinge' region (Fig. 11e). Conserved mutations in the hairpin loop, E297Q or D382N in TSHR, caused \sim 50% drop of TSH binding but increased affinity from ~80 nM to ~40 nM (Mueller et al., 2008). E297A, D382A, E297K and D382K mutations yielded similar results. E297D and D382E mutations largely retained the full w.t. binding ability but reduced ligand-affinity from $\sim 80 \text{ nM}$ to $\sim 180 \text{ nM}$ (Mueller et al., 2008). These data imply that the conformations of these two residues must be restrained in the inactive state since they are sensitive to even the most conserved mutations. It is possible that these residues are tethered to the 7TM extracellular loops via one or more positively charged residues such as K565, K651, H478 and H484. Perturbation of the "tethering bonds" would loosen up the local hairpin-loop conformation, causing a local blockage and leading to reduced TSH binding. The important roles of ECL2 and ECL1 loops in GPCR activation have been shown in several studies. Alanine scanning of the ECL2 loop residues of TSHR revealed two residues, Y563 and K565 (corresponding to Y511 and K513 of FSHR) are important in receptor activation (Kleinau et al., 2007). A study of the complement factor 5a receptor



Fig. 11. Potential allosteric binding pocket of the FSHR 7TM domain. (a) Molecular model in the inactive state. (b) Molecular model in the active state. Inset: Zoomed region to show the allosteric binding pocket. (c) Top view of the allosteric binding pocket where the TMs and loops ECL1 (blue ribbon) and ECL2 (cyan ribbon) are marked. Also highlighted are the conserved disulfide bond between C442 and C517 in gold sticks and balls, and residues Y511 (a cyan ball) and K513 (a blue ball). (d) For and back views of the binding pocket with some of the surrounding residues highlighted in balls. (e) Charged residues in or around the hairpin loop in the signal specificity subdomain. Positive charges are in blue, negatives in red, cysteines in yellow and other conserved residues are shaded in grey. Gaps are represented by dash "-" symbols, and omitted residues are denoted by the symbol "JJ". (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

(C5aR) suggests the ECL2 loop controls the on-off transition for the receptor activation (Klco et al., 2005; Massotte and Kieffer, 2005). Another study suggests the ECL1 loop plays an essential role in activating the adenosine A_{2B} receptor (Peeters et al., 2011). It is worth noting that the sequence region from E297 to D382 of TSHR roughly corresponds to the mapped "tethered inverse agonist" region 296–331 in FSHR (Agrawal and Dighe, 2009).

One of the caveats of the modeling practice is the assumption that all the Family A GPCR structures are similar enough so their coordinates can be copied. Although all the known GPCRs do look similar, there are substantial differences among the structures; for example β_2 AR is quite different from protease-activated receptor 1. Nevertheless, a 3D-model is a useful tool for understanding biological functions as long as one knows its limitations and treats the reliabilities of different modeled regions properly with regard to the templates. As the key residue coordinates are super-imposable in most of the known GPCR structures, they are likely reliable with the assumption that proper templates were chosen. The side-chain conformations for other conserved residues are generally considered as reliable, especially for residues within the helices, but their reliability is lower than those of the key residues. The main-chain conformations for the remaining helical residues are considered as reliable, but the side-chain conformations have to be treated with caution. For the loop regions, reliability is the greatest when no gap was introduced: thus, the main-chain conformations for ICL1, ICL2, ECL3 and the link between TM7 and helix8 are considered as reliable. When there is a gap in aligned sequences, the modeling becomes a ring-closure problem (Go and Scheraga, 1970) where a deletion in the subject sequence decreases the degree of freedom and the locations of the modeled residues are relatively certain, but the conformation of these residues may still not be reliable. Loops of ECL2 and ICL3 are in this category. The degree of freedom for loop ECL2 is even smaller as its conformation is restricted by a disulfide-bond between this loop and TM3 (Fig. 11c). In contrast, when an insertion is introduced in the subject sequence, the degree of freedom is increased; as a result, the modeled residues are least reliable. Loop ECL1 is in this category. Nevertheless, one has to treat theoretical models with caution, given the low percent sequence identities between GPHRs and other GPCRs with known structures.

7.2. Small molecules as allosteric modulators

Identifying small molecular weight GPH agonists or antagonists is a major research field of molecular reproductive endocrinology. In addition to being developed for drug candidates (Chappel et al., 1998; Lunenfeld, 2004; McGregor et al., 2007), these small molecules can be useful tools for understanding the basic science of GPHRs: they are likely essential for obtaining GPCR crystals (Rosenbaum et al., 2009); they aided the successful efforts in deciphering disulfide-bond pairs of the LHR 'hinge' region (Bruysters et al., 2008) and in identifying the ligand-binding region in FSHR (van Koppen et al., 2013).

To date, there are over 170 known small molecules targeting GPHRs, of which a few chemical fragments are often observed across different chemical series. A comprehensive review and analysis of these small molecules is beyond the scope of this article. Three small molecules, however, are worth mentioning here because their effects on the FSH binding to FSHR played an important role in the formulation of our proposed trimeric receptor activation mechanism (see below). Importantly, despite their different chemical types, these three small molecules all increase FSH binding to the cell-surface receptors from 1-fold to approximately 3-fold (Fig. 12) (Dias et al., 2011; Janovick et al., 2009; van Koppen et al., 2013). Since FSH binds to FSHR with subnanomolar affinity, most FSH molecules must remain receptor-bound even without



Fig. 12. Effect of small molecule allosteric modulators on specific ¹²⁵I-FSH binding to wild-type FSHR. Color coded are three small molecule structures and their effect on the relative binding of ¹²⁵I-FSH to the wt-hFSHR that changes from one-fold to three-fold in the absence (shown as open bars) and presence (shown as filled bars) of these small molecules. The data source of ADX61623 is Fig. 4c in the reference (Dias et al., 2011), that of Org 41841 is Fig. 3a in the reference (Janovick et al., 2009), and that of Org 214444-0 is Fig. 3A in the reference (van Koppen et al., 2013). The original data were normalized for direct comparisons. The effect of ADX61623 was measured for ¹²⁵I-FSH binding to hFSHRs in HEK293 cells, that of Org 41841 to FSHRs in Cos7 cells, and that of Org 214444-0 to membranes of CHO stably expressing hFSHR. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

the presence of small molecules. Therefore, it seems reasonable to suggest that the dramatic increase of FSH binding to its receptor is unlikely due to an increase of binding affinity in the presence of the small molecules. Instead, these small molecules are proposed to have somehow changed the receptor form to expose more FSHbinding sites.

8. Functional relevance of receptor trimers

The oligomerization of glycoprotein hormone receptors is a well-observed phenomenon (Lei et al., 2007; Rivero-Muller et al., 2010; Roess et al., 2000; Roess and Smith, 2003; Thomas et al., 2007; Urizar et al., 2005; Zoenen et al., 2012). Two independent protomers were observed to form a dimer, mainly mediated by the residue Y110, in the FSH–FSHR_{HB} crystals (Fan and Hendrickson, 2005). Unexpectedly, a trimer was observed in the asymmetrical unit of the new FSH–FSHR_{ED} crystal structure (Fig. 13) (Jiang et al., 2012). Since GPCR trimers have never been explicitly proposed before, caution is deemed appropriate about the physiological relevance of the FSHR_{ED} trimer observed in the more recent crystal structure (Jiang et al., 2012), because such high order oligomers could be due to artificial crystal lattice contacts. Nevertheless, numerous pieces of evidence supporting the functional relevance of the GPHR trimers should not be ignored.

First, high molecular weight (MW) electrophoresis bands, consistent with FSHR, LHR and TSHR trimers, have been repeatedly documented in earlier publications (Dattatreyamurty et al., 1992; Latif et al., 2010; Tao et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2007). A GPHR monomer has a MW of approximately 80 kDa. Studies from two independent groups explicitly labeled the bands with MW of 240 kDa, corresponding to a trimer. Purified FSHR from bovine testes (a physiological source) have been shown to contain a form with MW of 240 kDa (Dattatreyamurty et al., 1992). In an investigation of LHR oligomerization, the major band on Western blot was shown to migrate at 240 kDa (Tao et al., 2004). Since some receptors associate constitutively as oligomers even in harsh buffers containing SDS, the main driving force for oligomerization likely lies with the transmembrane domains. This is consistent with the earlier observation that receptor oligomerization is mediated through both transmembrane and ectodomains in LHR and TSHR (Guan et al., 2010; Urizar et al., 2005). However the significance of such high molecular weight bands which cannot be dissociated with SDS under reducing conditions should be addressed with caution. In one case it was reasoned that the high molecular weight bands are from not-yet-fully-processed receptor, possibly on their way to being degraded, because these bands still retained the mycand FLAG-tags on the C-terminus (Thomas et al., 2007). Since the fully processed 85kDa receptor did not have the tags and did not present as a high molecular weight band, it was concluded that the receptor monomer forms oligomers (as demonstrated by antibody FRET) but that the oligomers could be dissociated in SDS gels (Thomas et al., 2007).

New work seems more convincing for the physiological existence of receptor trimers. As mentioned above, three publications show an approximate one-to-three ratio of receptor binding by FSH in the absence and presence of small molecular modulators (Dias et al., 2011; Janovick et al., 2009; van Koppen et al., 2013). As will be demonstrated below, FSHR trimer, as observed in the new crystal structure, can only geometrically accommodate one fully glycosylated FSH molecule (Fig. 14a). A simple explanation of the 1-to-3 ratio is that one fully-glycosylated FSH molecule binds to one FSHR trimer in the absence of small molecular modulators but each FSH binds to one FSHR monomer after small molecule modulators dissociate the FSHR trimer (see below).

To facilitate crystallization, endoglycosidase F1 was used to trim the glycans in the FSH–FSHR_{ED} complex. It has been well established that full glycosylation, including the capping of sialic acid of the carbohydrates at N52 α , is essential for the full agonist



Fig. 13. FSH–FSHR_{ED} trimer. (a) Top and front views (left and right panels, respectively) of the trimeric complexes. FSH α - and β subunits are shown in green and light-blue, respectively, while FSHR_{ED} in magenta. The side chain of sulfated Y335 is represented as sticks for the tyrosine and as colored balls (sulfur: yellow; oxygen: red) for the sulfate. The carbohydrate atoms at N52 α are shown as yellow balls. The disordered residues in the receptors are marked as dashed lines in the front view. For clarity, the third complex in the back in the front view is represented as a grey surface model. Inset: A zoomed region shows the detailed interactions between FSH and FSHR_{ED} at the trimer interface. (b) FSH–FSHR_{ED} trimer in the surface representation of electrostatic potentials that were calculated from amino acid residues. The N52 α glycan is located in the inner space of the FSH–FSHR trimer. The left panel is a top view of the trimer where the N52 α glycan atoms (yellow balls) on one of the trimeric protomers. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

activity of glycoprotein hormones. In the new structure, only the first glycan residue is visible for the carbohydrates at N52 α of FSH in the electron density map. The glycan extends towards the central cavity of the FSH-FSHR_{ED} complex trimer (Figs. 13 and 14a). In order to understand the roles of the N52 α carbohydrates in receptor activation, the dimension of the central cavity was measured and compared to the dimension of known full glycans in available crystal structures. Although it is impossible to make a precise calculation due to the flexibility and the heterogeneous nature of oligosaccharides, it is possible to estimate the dimension owing to the availability of a number of N-linked carbohydrate structures. The dimension of the central cavity is approximately 25 Å in diameter (Fig. 13b). The dimensions of a bi-antennary glycan in human fibrinogen (PDB: 3GHG) are 20 Å from the first Nlinked sugar residue to the terminal sialic acid and 30 Å to the other branch (Kollman et al., 2009). Measurements of the glycan dimensions in other structures (e.g., the glycans in IgG structures) also indicate 20 Å is the minimum dimensional requirement for a full-length oligosaccharide. This implies that the binding of one fully glycosylated FSH molecule to a receptor trimer would prevent other FSH molecules from binding to the trimer, which is confirmed by docking a bi-antennary oligosaccharide glycan into the trimer structure (Fig. 14a). This is consistent with experimental observations of negative cooperativity of TSH binding to TSHR (Chen et al., 2011; Urizar et al., 2005). It seems therefore reasonable to conclude that an FSHR_{ED} trimer can accommodate only one fully glycosylated FSH molecule.

The trimeric receptor model presented in this article provides rational explanations for the important biological roles played by the GPH residues which are removed from either the primary hormone-binding site or the sTyr site. Specifically, the hormone residues in the loops $\mathcal{L}2\alpha$ and $\mathcal{L}3\beta$ are known to play important roles in receptor binding and signaling. Since these residues project away from the primary hormone-receptor interface, a full understanding about the function of these residues has so far been elusive. The proposed potential hormone-receptor interaction exosite (Jiang et al., 2012) thus provides a mechanistic explanation for numerous experimental data concerning these residues. Foremost, the oligosaccharide at N52 α is essential for the full agonistic activity of glycoprotein hormones, because its removal dramatically reduces the efficacy of the hormones. In hCG, this loss of efficacy can be reversed by either adding an oligosaccharide at N77B in loop $\mathcal{L}3\beta$ (corresponding to D71 β in FSH) (Moyle et al., 2004), or applying a monoclonal antibody (B111) that recognizes the nearby residues (Moyle et al., 2004) or a polyclonal antiserum against hCG (Rebois and Liss, 1987). In the case of hTSH, a super



Fig. 14. Compatibility considerations of FSHR trimer occupied by one fully-glycosylated FSH and one G-protein heterotrimer. (a) Theoretical model of a single fully-glycosylated FSH molecule binding to an FSHR trimer, viewing from front (left panel) and top (right panel). For clarity, glycosylation is omitted except for N52 α of the hormone. The receptor trimer is shown as a magenta surface. The α chain of FSH is shown as a green ribbon, the β chain as a blue ribbon, and carbohydrates as yellow balls. (b) Theoretical model of FSHR 7TM trimer in complex with a single hetero-trimeric Gs complex, viewing from front (left panel) and bottom (right panel). FSHR 7TM domains are represented as surfaces with each color denoting a protomer of the trimer (i.e., one 7TM domain). The Gs complex is shown as ribbons with α chain in blue, β chain in green and γ chain in cyan. (c) Receptor trimers may exist in a cis- or trans-configuration (left and right panels, respectively). Either configuration is compatible with the FSHR_{ED} trimer described in Fig. 13. Each color represents one receptor monomer. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

agonist (TSH + α 4K) can also be engineered to become an ultra super agonist (TSH + α 4K + β 3R) when three residues in the β chain (I58 β , E63 β and L69 β) are all mutated to arginine (Grossmann et al., 1998). All these residues in hCG and TSH are located at or near the potential exosite (Fig. 13a inset), suggesting the important role of the potential exosite in signal transduction of the GPHRs.

In light of the available crystal structure of $\beta 2$ adrenergic receptor-G_s protein complex (Rasmussen et al., 2011), it was important to determine if three G_s protein heterotrimeric molecules could be modeled to an FSHR trimer. No GPCR trimer structure had ever been reported, but its evolutionary ancestor, bacteriorhodopsin (bR), exists as a trimer both in crystal and solution (Takeda et al., 1998). Each molecule in the bR trimer was replaced with the above-constructed FSHR 7TM domain to generate an FSHR 7TM trimer. The crystal structure of the $\beta 2$ adrenergic receptor-G_s protein complex was then superimposed to one of the three 7TM domains. The resulting trimer model clearly shows that the FSHR trimer can

only accommodate one G_s protein heterotrimer (Fig. 14b). Although it is possible that the FSHR 7TM domains associate differently from the bR trimer, the bulkiness of the G protein heterotrimer relative to that of the FSHR 7TM domain, nevertheless, makes it unlikely that three G heterotrimers would geometrically fit into a tightly-associated FSHR 7TM trimer. Therefore, it seems reasonable to conclude that the FSHR trimer would only interact with one G_s protein heterotrimer.

The transmembrane domain of GPHRs has been known to be activated either intramolecularly (cis) or intermolecularly (trans) after the binding of a hormone to the ectodomain (Ji et al., 2002; Osuga et al., 1997; Rivero-Muller et al., 2010). It was proposed (Ji et al., 2002) that the receptor can be trans-activated by a large-scale translational movement of the ectodomain from its own transmembrane domain to its neighbor's transmembrane domain, presumably due to an extensive conformational melt of the signal specificity ("hinge") region. Because the 'hinge' domain is an

integral part of LRR, such a large-scale translational movement is unlikely (Jiang et al., 2012). To understand this phenomenon, it is necessary to construct a full-length FSHR trimer. It is reasonable to assume that the three-fold axis of the FSH–FSHR_{ED} trimer aligns with that of the FSHR 7TM trimer (Fig. 14c). There is still uncertainty about the rotation angle along the 3-fold axis between the ectodomain trimer and the 7TM trimer, as one FSHR ectodomain may sit on top of one 7TM domain or sit in between two 7TM domains. In the FSHR ectodomain trimer, the distance separated the last visible residue in each ectodomain monomer, I359, is about 14 Å. This C-terminal proximity makes it possible for multiple configurations, including the co-existence of both *cis*- and *trans*-receptor trimers (Fig. 14c).

9. Hypothesis: the role of glycoprotein hormone receptor trimers in signal transduction

Based on the recent crystal structure in combination with a wealth of biochemical data in the literature, it seems appropriate to present here a proposal for a trimeric glycoprotein hormone receptor activation mechanism (Fig. 15). In the absence of FSH, FSHRs exist mainly as trimers in a closed form (State A in Fig. 15). Upon binding of a single fully glycosylated protein hormone molecule, the ectodomains transform themselves to an open form, forced by initial high-affinity binding of the hormone to the inner surface of FSHR hormone-binding subdomain and subsequent pushing-in by the bulky N52 α carbohydrates into the central hole of the receptor trimer. As a result, one of the three receptors in the trimer is activated. The receptor trimer is switched asymmetrically from an inactive state to an active state, and subsequently

binds one heterotrimeric G-protein (State B in Fig. 15). Independently, small-molecule allosteric modulators bind to the transmembrane domains, causing conformational changes and dissociation of the 7TM trimer. The receptor separation allows two more FSH molecules to bind the yet-unbound two receptors. Each receptor is activated via the monomeric activation mechanism, resulting in the formation of three activated G protein molecules (State C in Fig. 15). Due to the absence of bulky glycans, three deglycosylated hormones can bind a receptor timer (State D in Fig. 15). The antagonistic activity of the deglycosylated hormone likely arises from lack of the glycan's pushing-in force for the trimeric dissociation in the ectodomains, therefore locking the receptor in hormone bound with high-affinity into an inactive or partially active state.

An important aspect of this mechanism is that FSHR can function as both a monomer and a trimer. Receptor trimerization is mediated via both the 7TM domains and the ectodomains. A complete dissociation of the trimeric receptor requires the separation among both the trimeric 7TM domains (which can be achieved by an allosteric modulator) and the trimeric ectodomains (which can be achieved by a full-length N52 α glycan). Like a monomer, the trimeric FSHR only activates one G protein and binds one β arrestin. A major difference between the trimeric mechanism and monomeric mechanism is the N52 α glycan plays little role for receptor activation in the monomeric form. In the presence of an allosteric modulator, the trimeric mechanism model predicts that FSHR would achieve 3-fold binding of fully-glycosylated FSH, 3fold β-arrestin binding and 3-fold G protein activation when all three monomers are completely separated. This model does not predict the extent of cAMP increase, due to signal amplification at the adenylate cyclase step in the signaling pathway. It is not



Fig. 15. Proposed mechanism of trimeric GPHR activation. The extracellular LRRs of GPHR are represented as purple blocks with a hairpin loop (the primary hormone-binding subdomain is labeled as HBSD and signal specificity subdomain as SSSD) and seven transmembrane domain (7TM) as cylinders (inactivated and activated forms are colored as grey and green, respectively). The other key receptor elements are also shown, where sulfate group at Y335 is depicted as a yellow ball, residue S271 as a green star and disulfide bonds as thin yellow lines. Heterotrimeric Gs protein is shown as an ellipsoid (inactivated and activated forms are colored grey and green, respectively). Glycoprotein hormone heterodimer is represented in blue whereas carbohydrates at N52 α as Y-shaped yellow sticks. Small molecule allosteric modulators are shown as yellow hexagons. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

unusual for different compounds to produce similar maximal cAMP responses, unlike the response in a β -arrestin assay where the response is proportional to receptor number (Nickolls et al., 2011).

The trimer model also suggests that the $\mathcal{L}1\alpha$ and $\mathcal{L}3\alpha$ loops of FSH are near the 7TM domain. The receptor activation, however, is not achieved by a direct contact between FSH and the 7TM domain, rather by both the perturbation of the ectodomain trimerization and lifting the hairpin loop in the signal specificity subdomain.

10. Perspectives and closing remarks

Glycoprotein hormones and their receptors form a complex and sophisticated biological system. Understanding the signaling mechanism at the atomic level to the current status is the result of a cumulative effort from several laboratories. The key events of the structural understanding of the system are shown in Fig. 16. In 1994, the crystal structure of hCG was solved by two groups (Lapthorn et al., 1994; Wu et al., 1994) that laid the foundation of the field. In 1995, a view of the hormone-receptor complex was presented (Jiang et al., 1995) in which several aspects of hormone binding and orientation have stood the test of time. In 2001, the crystal structure of FSH (Fox et al., 2001) was solved using the hCG structure as the search model. In 2005, the crystal structure of FSH-FSHR_{HB} complex (Fan and Hendrickson, 2005) was solved using the FSH structure as the search model. In 2012, the crystal structure of FSH-FSHR_{ED} complex (Jiang et al., 2012) was solved using the FSH-FSHR_{HB} as the search model. It is clearly a long relay process over 18 years that has taken us this far in the understanding this exquisite biological system. The next big task obviously is to obtain the crystal structure of a full-length GPHR. Without that, how the signal specificity subdomain interacts with the transmembrane domain in atomic details will remain unknown.

Apart from obtaining a full-length GPHR crystal structure, other means can be explored to gain insight into receptor signaling. One important issue is to refine the final proposed step and map the details of the monomeric two-step receptor activation mechanism shown in Fig. 9. In this step, the bound hormone employs a lever-like mechanism where the 'pulling & lifting' of the hairpin loop presumably releases the inhibitory effect of the ectodomain on the extracellular loops of the 7TM domain, and relays the signal to a more subtle, propagated conformational change to the GPCR helix bundle.

A more important question is whether the FSHR trimer observed in the new crystal structure is a physiologically relevant entity. This question is important not only for the GPHR family members but for the GPCR superfamily in general. Members of GPCRs have been shown to display negative or positive cooperativity in ligand binding and asymmetric signaling (Damian et al., 2006; Rovira et al., 2010). Growing evidence shows many GPCRs do exist as oligomers (Khelashvili et al., 2010; Skrabanek et al., 2007). Whether GPCRs function as a monomer or an oligomer, however, has been extensively debated. Convincing studies have demonstrated that rhodopsin or β_2 AR can signal to their respective G protein as monomeric units (Ernst et al., 2007; Whorton et al., 2007), but atomic-force microscopy has shown rhodopsin exists as a dimer and higher order of oligomers (Fotiadis et al., 2003). Several other approaches have demonstrated that GPCRs form oligomers under physiological conditions. Single molecule imaging TIRF microscopy recorded the formation and dissociation of muscarinic receptor oligomers in CHO cells (Hern et al., 2010). The M2 muscarinic receptor was identified as a tetramer in live cells by measuring the oligomeric size of using quantitative FRET method (Pisterzi et al., 2010). Another study (Albizu et al., 2010) added one more compelling qualifier: asymmetric activation of oxytocin receptors as shown with time-resolved FRET between ligands. Indeed, many GPCR oligomers bind ligands asymmetrically with a single protomer activated (Rovira et al., 2010). Other examples are GPCRs for GABA, metabotropic glutamate (Kniazeff et al., 2004), leukotriene B4 (Damian et al., 2006), dopamine (Han et al., 2009) and serotonin (Mancia et al., 2008).

Several earlier studies have demonstrated that GPHRs form oligomers under physiological conditions. LHR forms oligomers in vitro as well as in vivo (Rivero-Muller et al., 2010; Urizar et al., 2005). The oligomer behaves as a single monomer and activation of a single protomer is enough for signal transduction. TSHR has also been shown to form oligomer under physiological conditions and TSH binding occurs only on a single protomer (Vassart, 2010; Vlaeminck-Guillem et al., 2002). These observations are consistent with a proposed receptor trimer. In addition to supporting an asymmetric mechanism of receptor activation, a trimer model also suggests a potential origin for negative cooperativity in receptor binding when the hormones are fully glycosylated. A trimer activation mechanism further suggests that receptors can be activated as both trimer and monomer. While a monomeric GPHR is capable of full coupling to one G-protein complex, the proposed trimeric receptors can interact with a single G-protein complex. Indeed, rhodopsin has been shown to be capable of activating only a single G-protein in both monomeric and dimeric forms (Bayburt et al., 2007). Taken together, a step forward has been taken to provide a mechanistic explanation of the phenomena. In this regard, the confirmation of the physiological relevance of the trimer by further work should shed light not only on the activation mechanism of GPHRs but also on the whole GPCR superfamily members in general.



Fig. 16. Chronology of progression of revelation of the structural biology of gonadotropins and their receptors. The years are shown along with the names of the crystal structures. Color codes are as follows: α subunit (green), hCG β (cyan), FSH β (blue) and FSHR (magenta). Carbohydrates and sulfated tyrosine are shown as balls. Below each structure is the year when the crystal structure was published, the name of the structure, and the structure PDB code(s) (in parenthesis). (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

References

- Agrawal, G., Dighe, R.R., 2009. Critical involvement of the hinge region of the follicle-stimulating hormone receptor in the activation of the receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 2636–2647.
- Alizu, L., Cottet, M., Kralikova, M., Stoev, S., Seyer, R., Brabet, I., Roux, T., Bazin, H., Bourrier, E., Lamarque, L., Breton, C., Rives, M.L., Newman, A., Javitch, J., Trinquet, E., Manning, M., Pin, J.P., Mouillac, B., Durroux, T., 2010. Time-resolved FRET between GPCR ligands reveals oligomers in native tissues. Nat. Chem. Biol. 6, 587–594.
- Anderson, R.J., Weng, Z., Campbell, R.K., Jiang, X., 2005. Main-chain conformational tendencies of amino acids. Proteins 60, 679–689.
- Arnold, C.J., Liu, C., Lindau-Shepard, B., Losavio, M.L., Patrascu, M.T., Dias, J.A., 1998. The human follitropin alpha-subunit C terminus collaborates with a betasubunit cystine noose and an alpha-subunit loop to assemble a receptorbinding domain competent for signal transduction. Biochemistry 37, 1762– 1768.
- Aschheim, S., Zondek, B., 1927. Hypophysenvorderlappenhormon und Ovarialhormon im Harn von Schwangeren. Klin. Wochenschr. 6, 1322.
- Aschner, B., 1912. Ueber die Beziehungen zwischen Hypophysis und Genitale. Arch. Gynäkol. 97, 200–227.
- Baenziger, J.U., 1994. Glycosylation and glycoprotein hormone function. In: Lustbader, J.W.P.D., Ruddon, R.W. (Eds.), Glycoprotein Hormones: Structure, Function and Clinical Implications. Springer-Verlag, New York, pp. 167–174.
- Bayburt, T.H., Leitz, A.J., Xie, G., Oprian, D.D., Sligar, S.G., 2007. Transducin activation by nanoscale lipid bilayers containing one and two rhodopsins. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 14875–14881.
- Bergner, A., Oganessyan, V., Muta, T., Iwanaga, S., Typke, D., Huber, R., Bode, W., 1996. Crystal structure of a coagulogen, the clotting protein from horseshoe crab: a structural homologue of nerve growth factor. EMBO J. 15, 6789–6797.
- Bernard, M.P., Lin, W., Myers, R., Cao, D., Xing, Y., Moyle, W.R., 2005. Crosslinked bifunctional gonadotropin analogs with reduced efficacy. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 233, 25–31.
- Bernstein, F.C., Koetzle, T.F., Williams, G.J., Meyer Jr., E.F., Brice, M.D., Rodgers, J.R., Kennard, O., Shimanouchi, T., Tasumi, M., 1977. The Protein Data Bank: a computer-based archival file for macromolecular structures. J. Mol. Biol. 112, 535–542.
- Bhowmick, N., Huang, J., Puett, D., Isaacs, N.W., Lapthorn, A.J., 1996. Determination of residues important in hormone binding to the extracellular domain of the luteinizing hormone/chorionic gonadotropin receptor by site-directed mutagenesis and modeling. Mol. Endocrinol. 10, 1147–1159.
- Bjarnadottir, T.K., Gloriam, D.E., Hellstrand, S.H., Kristiansson, H., Fredriksson, R., Schioth, H.B., 2006. Comprehensive repertoire and phylogenetic analysis of the G protein-coupled receptors in human and mouse. Genomics 88, 263– 273.
- Blithe, D.L., 1990. Carbohydrate composition of the α -subunit of human choriogonadotropin (hCG α) and the free α molecules produced in pregnancy: most free α and some combined hCG α molecules are fucosylated. Endocrinology 126, 2788–2799.
- Blithe, D.L., Richards, R.G., Skarulis, M.C., 1991. Free alpha molecules from pregnancy stimulate secretion of prolactin from human decidual cells: a novel function for free alpha in pregnancy. Endocrinology 129, 2257–2259.
- Bockaert, J., Pin, J.P., 1999. Molecular tinkering of G protein-coupled receptors: an evolutionary success. EMBO J. 18, 1723–1729.
- Bonomi, M., Busnelli, M., Persani, L., Vassart, G., Costagliola, S., 2006. Structural differences in the hinge region of the glycoprotein hormone receptors: evidence from the sulfated tyrosine residues. Mol. Endocrinol. 20, 3351–3363.
- Borget, I., Corone, C., Nocaudie, M., Allyn, M., Iacobelli, S., Schlumberger, M., De Pouvourville, G., 2007. Sick leave for follow-up control in thyroid cancer patients: comparison between stimulation with Thyrogen and thyroid hormone withdrawal. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 156, 531–538.
- Bousfield, G.R., Butnev, V.Y., Gotschall, R.R., Baker, V.L., Moore, W.T., 1996. Structural features of mammalian gonadotropins. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 125, 3–19.
- Braun, T., Schofield, P.R., Sprengel, R., 1991. Amino-terminal leucine-rich repeats in gonadotropin receptors determine hormone selectivity. EMBO J. 10, 1885–1890.
- Breous, E., Wenzel, A., Loos, U., 2005. Promoter cloning and characterisation of the transcriptional regulation of the human thyrostimulin A2 subunit. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 245, 169–180.
- Brondyk, W.H., Jiang, X., Campbell, R., 2008. Mutant Glycoproteins. U.S. Patent 7,317,095, issued January 8, 2008.
- Bruysters, M., Verhoef-Post, M., Themmen, A.P., 2008. Asp330 and Tyr331 in the Cterminal cysteine-rich region of the luteinizing hormone receptor are key residues in hormone-induced receptor activation. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 25821– 25828.
- Burgus, R., Butcher, M., Amoss, M., Ling, N., Monahan, M., Rivier, J., Fellows, R., Blackwell, R., Vale, W., Guillemin, R., 1972. Primary structure of the ovine hypothalamic luteinizing hormone-releasing factor (LRF) (LH-hypothalamus-LRF-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry-decapeptide-Edman degradation). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 69, 278–282.
- Butnev, V.Y., Singh, V., Nguyen, V.T., Bousfield, G.R., 2002. Truncated equine LH beta and asparagine(56)-deglycosylated equine LH alpha combine to produce a potent FSH antagonist. J. Endocrinol. 172, 545–555.

- Campbell, R.K., Dean-Emig, D.M., Moyle, W.R., 1991. Conversion of human choriogonadotropin into a follitropin by protein engineering. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 760–764.
- CCP4, 1994. The CCP4 suite: programs for protein crystallography. Acta Crystallogr. D: Biol. Crystallogr. 50, 760–763.
- Chappel, S., Buckler, D., Kelton, C., Tayar, N.E., 1998. Follicle stimulating hormone and its receptor: future perspectives. Hum. Reprod. 13 (Suppl. 3), 18–35.
- Chen, F., Puett, D., 1991. Contributions of arginines-43 and -94 of human choriogonadotropin beta to receptor binding and activation as determined by oligonucleotide-based mutagenesis. Biochemistry 30, 10171–10175.
- Chen, F., Wang, Y., Puett, D., 1992. The carboxy-terminal region of the glycoprotein hormone alpha-subunit: contributions to receptor binding and signaling in human chorionic gonadotropin. Mol. Endocrinol. 6, 914–919.
- Chen, C.R., Chazenbalk, G.D., McLachlan, S.M., Rapoport, B., 2003. Evidence that the C terminus of the A subunit suppresses thyrotropin receptor constitutive activity. Endocrinology 144, 3821–3827.
- Chen, C.R., McLachlan, S.M., Rapoport, B., 2010. Thyrotropin (TSH) receptor residue E251 in the extracellular leucine-rich repeat domain is critical for linking TSH binding to receptor activation. Endocrinology 151, 1940–1947.
- Chen, C.R., McLachlan, S.M., Rapoport, B., 2011. Evidence that the thyroidstimulating hormone (TSH) receptor transmembrane domain influences kinetics of TSH binding to the receptor ectodomain. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 6219– 6224.
- Chen, P.-H., Chen, X., He, X., 2012. Platelet-derived growth factors and their receptors: structural and functional perspectives. Biochim. Biophy. Acta (BBA) – Proteins Proteomics, doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2012.10.015.
- Chen, P.-H., Chen, X., Lin, Z., Fang, D., He, X., 2013. The structural basis of R-spondin recognition by LGR5 and RNF43. Genes Dev 27, 1345–1350.
- Cole, L.A., Kardana, A., Ying, F.C., Birken, S., 1991. The biological and clinical significance of nicks in human chorionic gonadotropin and its free beta-subunit. Yale J. Biol. Med. 64, 627–637.
- Cole, E.S., Lee, K., Lauziere, K., Kelton, C., Chappel, S., Weintraub, B., Ferrara, D., Peterson, P., Bernasconi, R., Edmunds, T., et al., 1993. Recombinant human thyroid stimulating hormone: development of a biotechnology product for detection of metastatic lesions of thyroid carcinoma. Biotechnology (NY) 11, 1014–1024.
- Cole, L.A., Khanlian, S.A., Muller, C.Y., Giddings, A., Kohorn, E., Berkowitz, R., 2006. Gestational trophoblastic diseases: 3. Human chorionic gonadotropin-free betasubunit, a reliable marker of placental site trophoblastic tumors. Gynecol. Oncol. 102, 160–164.
- Coleman, R.G., Burr, M.A., Souvaine, D.L., Cheng, A.C., 2005. An intuitive approach to measuring protein surface curvature. Proteins 61, 1068–1074.
- Combarnous, Y., 1992. Molecular basis of the specificity of binding of glycoprotein hormones to their receptors. Endocr. Rev. 13, 670–691.
- Cornell, J.S., Pierce, J.G., 1974. Studies on the disulfide bonds of glycoprotein hormones. Locations in the alpha chain based on partial reductions and formation of 14C-labeled S-carboxymethyl derivatives. J. Biol. Chem. 249, 4166–4174.
- Costagliola, S., Panneels, V., Bonomi, M., Koch, J., Many, M.C., Smits, G., Vassart, G., 2002. Tyrosine sulfation is required for agonist recognition by glycoprotein hormone receptors. EMBO J. 21, 504–513.
- Creighton, T.E., 1992. Proteins: Structures and Molecular Properties. WH Freeman. Crowe, S.J.C., Cushing, H., Homans, J., 1910. Experimental hypophysectomy. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 21, 128–169.
- Damian, M., Martin, A., Mesnier, D., Pin, J.P., Baneres, J.L., 2006. Asymmetric conformational changes in a GPCR dimer controlled by G-proteins. EMBO J. 25, 5693–5702.
- Daopin, S., Piez, K.A., Ogawa, Y., Davies, D.R., 1992. Crystal structure of transforming growth factor-beta 2: an unusual fold for the superfamily. Science 257, 369– 373.
- Dattatreyamurty, B., Smith, R.A., Zhang, S.B., Santa-Coloma, T.A., Reichert Jr., L.E., 1992. The size of the mature membrane receptor for follicle-stimulating hormone is larger than that predicted from its cDNA. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 9, 115– 121

DeLano, W.L., 2002. PyMOL Molecular Viewer.

Dias, J.A., 1992. Recent progress in structure-function and molecular analyses of the pituitary/placental glycoprotein hormone receptors. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1135, 287–294.

Dias, J.A., 2005. Endocrinology: fertility hormone in repose. Nature 433, 203-204.

- Dias, J.A., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., 1994. Receptor binding and functional properties of chimeric human follitropin prepared by an exchange between a small hydrophilic intercysteine loop of human follitropin and human lutropin. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 25289–25294.
- Dias, J.A., Lindau-Shepard, B., Hauer, C., Auger, I., 1998. Human follicle-stimulating hormone structure-activity relationships. Biol. Reprod. 58, 1331–1336.
- Dias, J.A., Bonnet, B., Weaver, B.A., Watts, J., Kluetzman, K., Thomas, R.M., Poli, S., Mutel, V., Campo, B., 2011. A negative allosteric modulator demonstrates biased antagonism of the follicle stimulating hormone receptor. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 333, 143–150.
- Donini, P.M.R., 1949. Rassegna di Clinica, Terapia e Scienze Affini. A Publication of the Biologic Laboratories of the Instituto Serono 48, 3–28.
- Duprez, L., Parma, J., Costagliola, S., Hermans, J., Van Sande, J., Dumont, J.E., Vassart, G., 1997. Constitutive activation of the TSH receptor by spontaneous mutations affecting the N-terminal extracellular domain. FEBS Lett. 409, 469–474.
- Emsley, P., Cowtan, K., 2004. Coot: model-building tools for molecular graphics. Acta Crystallogr. D: Biol. Crystallogr. 60, 2126–2132.

- Erbel, P.J., Karimi-Nejad, Y., De Beer, T., Boelens, R., Kamerling, J.P., Vliegenthart, J.F., 1999. Solution structure of the alpha-subunit of human chorionic gonadotropin. Eur. J. Biochem. 260, 490–498.
- Erbel, P.J., Karimi-Nejad, Y., van Kuik, J.A., Boelens, R., Kamerling, J.P., Vliegenthart, J.F., 2000. Effects of the N-linked glycans on the 3D structure of the free alphasubunit of human chorionic gonadotropin. Biochemistry 39, 6012–6021.
- Erickson, L.D., Rizza, S.A., Bergert, E.R., Charlesworth, M.C., McCormick, D.J., Ryan, R.J., 1990. Synthetic alpha-subunit peptides stimulate testosterone production in vitro by rat Leydig cells. Endocrinology 126, 2555–2560.
- Ernst, O.P., Gramse, V., Kolbe, M., Hofmann, K.P., Heck, M., 2007. Monomeric G protein-coupled receptor rhodopsin in solution activates its G protein transducin at the diffusion limit. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 10859–10864.
- Fan, Q.R., Hendrickson, W.A., 2005. Structure of human follicle-stimulating hormone in complex with its receptor. Nature 433, 269–277.
- Fan, Q.R., Hendrickson, W.A., 2007. Assembly and structural characterization of an authentic complex between human follicle stimulating hormone and a hormone-binding ectodomain of its receptor. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 260, 73–82.
- Fares, F., 2006. The role of O-linked and N-linked oligosaccharides on the structurefunction of glycoprotein hormones: development of agonists and antagonists. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1760, 560–567.
- Fares, F.A., Suganuma, N., Nishimori, K., LaPolt, P.S., Hsueh, A.J., Boime, I., 1992. Design of a long-acting follitropin agonist by fusing the C-terminal sequence of the chorionic gonadotropin beta subunit to the follitropin beta subunit. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 4304–4308.
- Feng, W., Huth, J.R., Norton, S.E., Ruddon, R.W., 1995a. Asparagine-linked oligosaccharides facilitate human chorionic gonadotropin beta-subunit folding but not assembly of prefolded beta with alpha. Endocrinology 136, 52–61.
- Feng, W., Matzuk, M.M., Mountjoy, K., Bedows, E., Ruddon, R.W., Boime, I., 1995b. The asparagine-linked oligosaccharides of the human chorionic gonadotropin beta subunit facilitate correct disulfide bond pairing. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 11851– 11859.
- Fevold, H.L., Hisaw, F.L., Leonard, S.L., 1931. The gonad stimulating and the luteinizing hormones of the anterior lobe of the hypophesis. Am. J. Physiol. 97, 291–301.
- Fiddes, J.C., Goodman, H.M., 1980. The cDNA for the beta-subunit of human chorionic gonadotropin suggests evolution of a gene by readthrough into the 3'-untranslated region. Nature 286, 684–687.
- Fotiadis, D., Liang, Y., Filipek, S., Saperstein, D.A., Engel, A., Palczewski, K., 2003. Atomic-force microscopy: rhodopsin dimers in native disc membranes. Nature 421, 127–128.
- Fox, K.M., Dias, J.A., Van Roey, P., 2001. Three-dimensional structure of human follicle-stimulating hormone. Mol. Endocrinol. 15, 378–389.
- Fredriksson, R., Lagerstrom, M.C., Lundin, L.G., Schioth, H.B., 2003. The G-proteincoupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. Mol. Pharmacol. 63, 1256–1272.
- Fujiki, Y., Rathnam, P., Saxena, B.B., 1980. Studies on the disulfide bonds in human pituitary follicle-stimulating hormone. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 624, 428–435.
- Gadkari, R.A., Sandhya, S., Sowdhamini, R., Dighe, R.R., 2007. The antigen binding sites of various hCG monoclonal antibodies show homology to different domains of LH receptor. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 260–262, 23–32.
- Garnier, J., 1978. Molecular aspects of the subunit assembly of glycoprotein hormones. In: McKerns, K.W. (Ed.), Structure and Function of Gonadotropins. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 381–414.
- Garone, L.M., Arkinstall, S.J., Brondyk, W.H., Campbell, R.K., Jiang, X., McKenna, S.D., Tepper, M., 2010. FSH Beta Mutants that are Glycosylated at Residues N55 and T57. U.S. Patent 7,700,112.
- Garone, L.M., Arkinstall, S.J., Brondyk, W.H., Campbell, R.K., Jiang, X., Mckenna, S.D., Tepper, M., 2011. FSH Glycosylation Mutant. EP Patent 1,694,271.
- George, S.R., O'Dowd, B.F., Lee, S.P., 2002. G-protein-coupled receptor oligomerization and its potential for drug discovery. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 1, 808–820.
- Gether, U., 2000. Uncovering molecular mechanisms involved in activation of G protein-coupled receptors. Endocr. Rev. 21, 90–113.
- Giudice, L.C., Pierce, J.G., 1976. Studies on the disulfide bonds of glycoprotein hormones. Complete reduction and reoxidation of the disulfide bonds of the alpha subunit of bovine luteinizing hormone. J. Biol. Chem. 251, 6392–6399.
- Giudice, L.C., Pierce, J.G., 1978. Studies on the reduction and reoxidation of the disulfide bonds of the alpha and beta subunits of human choriogonadotropin. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 533, 140–146.
- Giudice, L.C., Pierce, J.G., 1979. Studies on the disulfide bonds of glycoprotein hormones. Formation and properties of 11,35-bis(S-alkyl) derivatives of the alpha subunit. J. Biol. Chem. 254, 1164–1169.
- Go, N., Scheraga, H.A., 1970. Ring closure and local conformational deformations of chain molecules. Macromolecules 3, 178–187.
- Goodman, H.M., 2004. Discovery of the luteinizing hormone of the anterior pituitary gland. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 287, E818–E819.
- Goodsell, D.S., Dickerson, R.E., 1994. Bending and curvature calculations in B-DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 22, 5497–5503.
- Gromoll, J., Pekel, E., Nieschlag, E., 1996. The structure and organization of the human follicle-stimulating hormone receptor (FSHR) gene. Genomics 35, 308–311.
- Grossmann, M., Szkudlinski, M.W., Zeng, H., Kraiem, Z., Ji, I., Tropea, J.E., Ji, T.H., Weintraub, B.D., 1995. Role of the carboxy-terminal residues of the alphasubunit in the expression and bioactivity of human thyroid-stimulating hormone. Mol. Endocrinol. 9, 948–958.

- Grossmann, M., Szkudlinski, M.W., Wong, R., Dias, J.A., Ji, T.H., Weintraub, B.D., 1997. Substitution of the seat-belt region of the thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) beta-subunit with the corresponding regions of choriogonadotropin or follitropin confers luteotropic but not follitropic activity to chimeric TSH. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 15532–15540.
- Grossmann, M., Leitolf, H., Weintraub, B.D., Szkudlinski, M.W., 1998. A rational design strategy for protein hormone superagonists. Nat. Biotechnol. 16, 871–875.
- Gruters, A., Schoneberg, T., Biebermann, H., Krude, H., Krohn, H.P., Dralle, H., Gudermann, T., 1998. Severe congenital hyperthyroidism caused by a germ-line neo mutation in the extracellular portion of the thyrotropin receptor. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 83, 1431–1436.
- Guan, R., Wu, X., Feng, X., Zhang, M., Hebert, T.E., Segaloff, D.L., 2010. Structural determinants underlying constitutive dimerization of unoccupied human follitropin receptors. Cell. Signal. 22, 247–256.
- Guillemin, R., 1967. Chemistry and physiology of hypothalamic releasing factors for gonadotrophins. Int. J. Fertil. 12, 359–367.
- Hage-van Noort, M., Puijk, W.C., Plasman, H.H., Kuperus, D., Schaaper, W.M., Beekman, N.J., Grootegoed, J.A., Meloen, R.H., 1992. Synthetic peptides based upon a three-dimensional model for the receptor recognition site of folliclestimulating hormone exhibit antagonistic or agonistic activity at low concentrations. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 3922–3926.
- Halgren, T.A., 2009. Identifying and characterizing binding sites and assessing druggability. J. Chem. Inf. Model. 49, 377–389.
- Hamblen, E.C., Davis, C.D., Durham, N.C., 1945. Treatment of hypo-ovarianism by the sequential and cyclic administration of equine and chorionic gonadotropins—so-called one-two cylic gonadotropic therapy Summary of 5 years' results. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 50, 137–146.
- Hamidi, S., Chen, C.R., Mizutori-Sasai, Y., McLachlan, S.M., Rapoport, B., 2011. Relationship between thyrotropin receptor hinge region proteolytic posttranslational modification and receptor physiological function. Mol. Endocrinol. 25, 184–194.
- Han, Y., Moreira, I.S., Urizar, E., Weinstein, H., Javitch, J.A., 2009. Allosteric communication between protomers of dopamine class A GPCR dimers modulates activation. Nat. Chem. Biol. 5, 688–695.
- He, X.L., Bazan, J.F., McDermott, G., Park, J.B., Wang, K., Tessier-Lavigne, M., He, Z., Garcia, K.C., 2003. Structure of the Nogo receptor ectodomain: a recognition module implicated in myelin inhibition. Neuron 38, 177–185.
- Heikoop, J.C., van den Boogaart, P., de Leeuw, R., Rose, U.M., Mulders, J.W., Grootenhuis, P.D., 1998. Partially deglycosylated human choriogonadotropin, stabilized by intersubunit disulfide bonds, shows full bioactivity. Eur. J. Biochem. 253, 354–356.
- Hern, J.A., Baig, A.H., Mashanov, G.I., Birdsall, B., Corrie, J.E., Lazareno, S., Molloy, J.E., Birdsall, N.J., 2010. Formation and dissociation of M1 muscarinic receptor dimers seen by total internal reflection fluorescence imaging of single molecules. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 2693–2698.
- Ho, S.C., Van Sande, J., Lefort, A., Vassart, G., Costagliola, S., 2001. Effects of mutations involving the highly conserved S281HCC motif in the extracellular domain of the thyrotropin (TSH) receptor on TSH binding and constitutive activity. Endocrinology 142, 2760–2767.
- Ho, S.C., Goh, S.S., Su, Q., Khoo, D.H., 2005. Cysteine 390 mutation of the TSH receptor modulates its ectodomain as an inverse agonist on the serpentine domain with decrease in basal constitutive activity. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 245, 158–168.
- Hoyer, I., Haas, A.K., Kreuchwig, A., Schulein, R., Krause, G., 2013. Molecular sampling of the allosteric binding pocket of the TSH receptor provides discriminative pharmacophores for antagonist and agonists. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 41, 213–217.
- Hsu, S.Y., Liang, S.G., Hsueh, A.J., 1998. Characterization of two LGR genes homologous to gonadotropin and thyrotropin receptors with extracellular leucine-rich repeats and a G protein-coupled, seven-transmembrane region. Mol. Endocrinol. 12, 1830–1845.
- Hsu, S.Y., Kudo, M., Chen, T., Nakabayashi, K., Bhalla, A., van der Spek, P.J., van Duin, M., Hsueh, A.J., 2000. The three subfamilies of leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptors (LGR): identification of LGR6 and LGR7 and the signaling mechanism for LGR7. Mol. Endocrinol. 14, 1257–1271.
- Huang, J., Ujihara, M., Xia, H., Chen, F., Yoshida, H., Puett, D., 1993. Mutagenesis of the 'determinant loop' region of human choriogonadotropin beta. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 90, 211–218.
- Huizinga, E.G., Tsuji, S., Romijn, R.A., Schiphorst, M.E., de Groot, P.G., Sixma, J.J., Gros, P., 2002. Structures of glycoprotein Ibalpha and its complex with von Willebrand factor A1 domain. Science 297, 1176–1179.
- Hymowitz, S.G., Filvaroff, E.H., Yin, J.P., Lee, J., Cai, L., Risser, P., Maruoka, M., Mao, W., Foster, J., Kelley, R.F., Pan, G., Gurney, A.L., de Vos, A.M., Starovasnik, M.A., 2001. IL-17s adopt a cystine knot fold: structure and activity of a novel cytokine, IL-17F, and implications for receptor binding. EMBO J. 20, 5332–5341.
- Iles, R.K., Delves, P.J., Butler, S.A., 2010. Does hCG or hCGbeta play a role in cancer cell biology? Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 329, 62–70.
- Janovick, J.A., Maya-Nunez, G., Ulloa-Aguirre, A., Huhtaniemi, I.T., Dias, J.A., Verbost, P., Conn, P.M., 2009. Increased plasma membrane expression of human folliclestimulating hormone receptor by a small molecule thienopyr(im)idine. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 298, 84–88.
- Ji, I., Lee, C., Song, Y., Conn, P.M., Ji, T.H., 2002. Cis- and trans-activation of hormone receptors: the LH receptor. Mol. Endocrinol. 16, 1299–1308.
- Jiang, X., Dreano, M., Buckler, D.R., Cheng, S., Ythier, A., Wu, H., Hendrickson, W.A., el Tayar, N., 1995. Structural predictions for the ligand-binding region of

glycoprotein hormone receptors and the nature of hormone-receptor interactions. Structure 3, 1341–1353.

- Jiang, X., Gurel, O., Mendiaz, E.A., Stearns, G.W., Clogston, C.L., Lu, H.S., Osslund, T.D., Syed, R.S., Langley, K.E., Hendrickson, W.A., 2000. Structure of the active core of human stem cell factor and analysis of binding to its receptor kit. EMBO J. 19, 3192–3203.
- Jiang, X., Liu, H., Chen, X., Chen, P.H., Fischer, D., Sriraman, V., Yu, H.N., Arkinstall, S., He, X., 2012. Structure of follicle-stimulating hormone in complex with the entire ectodomain of its receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 109, 12491–12496.
- Joost, P., Methner, A., 2002. Phylogenetic analysis of 277 human G-protein-coupled receptors as a tool for the prediction of orphan receptor ligands. Genome Biol. 3, research0063.1-6.
- Kajava, A.V., 1998. Structural diversity of leucine-rich repeat proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 277, 519–527.
- Kajava, A.V., Vassart, G., Wodak, S.J., 1995. Modeling of the three-dimensional structure of proteins with the typical leucine-rich repeats. Structure 3, 867–877.
- Katritch, V., Cherezov, V., Stevens, R.C., 2012. Diversity and modularity of G proteincoupled receptor structures. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 33, 17–27.
- Kelton, C.A., Cheng, S.V., Nugent, N.P., Schweickhardt, R.L., Rosenthal, J.L., Overton, S.A., Wands, G.D., Kuzeja, J.B., Luchette, C.A., Chappel, S.C., 1992. The cloning of the human follicle stimulating hormone receptor and its expression in COS-7, CHO, and Y-1 cells. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 89, 141–151.
- Keutmann, H.T., Mason, K.A., Kitzmann, K., Ryan, R.J., 1989. Role of the beta 93-100 determinant loop sequence in receptor binding and biological activity of human luteinizing hormone and chorionic gonadotropin. Mol. Endocrinol. 3, 526–531.
- Khelashvili, G., Dorff, K., Shan, J., Camacho-Artacho, M., Skrabanek, L., Vroling, B., Bouvier, M., Devi, L.A., George, S.R., Javitch, J.A., Lohse, M.J., Milligan, G., Neubig, R.R., Palczewski, K., Parmentier, M., Pin, J.P., Vriend, G., Campagne, F., Filizola, M., 2010. GPCR-OKB: the G protein coupled receptor oligomer knowledge base. Bioinformatics 26, 1804–1805.
- Klco, J.M., Wiegand, C.B., Narzinski, K., Baranski, T.J., 2005. Essential role for the second extracellular loop in C5a receptor activation. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 12, 320–326.
- Kleinau, G., Krause, G., 2009. Thyrotropin and homologous glycoprotein hormone receptors: structural and functional aspects of extracellular signaling mechanisms. Endocr. Rev. 30, 133–151.
- Kleinau, G., Jaschke, H., Neumann, S., Lattig, J., Paschke, R., Krause, G., 2004. Identification of a novel epitope in the thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor ectodomain acting as intramolecular signaling interface. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 51590–51600.
- Kleinau, G., Claus, M., Jaeschke, H., Mueller, S., Neumann, S., Paschke, R., Krause, G., 2007. Contacts between extracellular loop two and transmembrane helix six determine basal activity of the thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 518–525.
- Kleinau, G., Mueller, S., Jaeschke, H., Grzesik, P., Neumann, S., Diehl, A., Paschke, R., Krause, G., 2011. Defining structural and functional dimensions of the extracellular thyrotropin receptor region. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 22622–22631.
- Kleinau, G., Neumann, S., Grüters, A., Krude, H., Biebermann, H., 2013. Novel insights on thyroid stimulating hormone receptor signal transduction, Endocr. Rev. doi: 10.1210/er.2012-1072.
- Kniazeff, J., Bessis, A.S., Maurel, D., Ansanay, H., Prezeau, L., Pin, J.P., 2004. Closed state of both binding domains of homodimeric mGlu receptors is required for full activity. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 11, 706–713.
- Kobe, B., Deisenhofer, J., 1993. Crystal structure of porcine ribonuclease inhibitor, a protein with leucine-rich repeats. Nature 366, 751–756.
- Koh, E., Kim, T., Cho, H.S., 2006. Mean curvature as a major determinant of betasheet propensity. Bioinformatics 22, 297–302.
- Kollman, J.M., Pandi, L., Sawaya, M.R., Riley, M., Doolittle, R.F., 2009. Crystal structure of human fibrinogen. Biochemistry 48, 3877–3886.
- Koo, Y.B., Ji, I., Slaughter, R.G., Ji, T.H., 1991. Structure of the luteinizing hormone receptor gene and multiple exons of the coding sequence. Endocrinology 128, 2297–2308.
- Kopp, P., Muirhead, S., Jourdain, N., Gu, W.X., Jameson, J.L., Rodd, C., 1997. Congenital hyperthyroidism caused by a solitary toxic adenoma harboring a novel somatic mutation (serine281→isoleucine) in the extracellular domain of the thyrotropin receptor. J. Clin. Invest. 100, 1634–1639.
- Kosugi, S., Ban, T., Akamizu, T., Kohn, L.D., 1991. Site-directed mutagenesis of a portion of the extracellular domain of the rat thyrotropin receptor important in autoimmune thyroid disease and nonhomologous with gonadotropin receptors. Relationship of functional and immunogenic domains. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 19413–19418.
- Krause, G., Kreuchwig, A., Kleinau, G., 2012. Extended and structurally supported insights into extracellular hormone binding, signal transduction and organization of the thyrotropin receptor. PLoS ONE 7, e52920.
- Lapthorn, A.J., Harris, D.C., Littlejohn, A., Lustbader, J.W., Canfield, R.E., Machin, K.J., Morgan, F.J., Isaacs, N.W., 1994. Crystal structure of human chorionic gonadotropin. Nature 369, 455–461.
- Latif, R., Morshed, S.A., Zaidi, M., Davies, T.F., 2009. The thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor: impact of thyroid-stimulating hormone and thyroidstimulating hormone receptor antibodies on multimerization, cleavage, and signaling. Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. North Am. 38, 319–341.
- Latif, R., Michalek, K., Morshed, S.A., Davies, T.F., 2010. A tyrosine residue on the TSH receptor stabilizes multimer formation. PLoS ONE 5, e9449.
- Lei, Y., Hagen, G.M., Smith, S.M., Liu, J., Barisas, G., Roess, D.A., 2007. Constitutivelyactive human LH receptors are self-associated and located in rafts. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 260–262, 65–72.

- Leinung, M.C., Reed, D.K., McCormick, D.J., Ryan, R.J., Morris, J.C., 1991. Further characterization of the receptor-binding region of the thyroid-stimulating hormone alpha subunit: a comprehensive synthetic peptide study of the alphasubunit 26–46 sequence. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 9707–9711.
- Lindau-Shepard, B., Brumberg, H.A., Peterson, A.J., Dias, J.A., 2001. Reversible immunoneutralization of human follitropin receptor. J. Reprod. Immunol. 49, 1– 19.
- Liu, C., Dias, J.A., 1996. Long loop residues 33–58 in the human glycoprotein hormone common alpha subunit contain structural components for subunit heterodimerization and human follitropin-receptor binding. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 329, 127–135.
- Liu, H., Chen, X., Focia, P.J., He, X., 2007. Structural basis for stem cell factor-KIT signaling and activation of class III receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J. 26, 891– 901.
- Loumaye, E.D.M., Galazka, A., Howles, C., Ham, L., Munafo, A., Eshkol, A., Giudice, E., De Luca, E., Sirna, A., Antonetti, F., Giartosio, C.-E., Scaglia, L., Kelton, C., Campbell, R., Chappel, S., Duthu, B., Cymbalista, S., Lepage, P., 1998. Recombinant follicle stimulating hormone: development of the first biotechnology product for the treatment of infertility. Hum. Reprod. Update 4, 862–881.
- Ludwig, M., Felberbaum, R.E., Diedrich, K., Lunenfeld, B., 2002. Ovarian stimulation: from basic science to clinical application. Reprod. Biomed. Online 5 (Suppl. 1), 73–86.
- Lunenfeld, B., 2002. Development of gonadotrophins for clinical use. Reprod. Biomed. Online 4 (Suppl. 1), 11–17.
- Lunenfeld, B., 2004. Historical perspectives in gonadotrophin therapy. Hum. Reprod. Update 10, 453–467.
- Lunenfeld, B., Sulimovici, S., Rabau, E., Eshkol, A., 1962. L'induction de l'ovulation dans les amenorrhees hypophysaires par un traitement combine de gonadotrophines urinaires menopausiques et de gonadotrophines chorioniques. CR Soc. Franc Gynecol. 325–346.
- Lustbader, J.W., Yarmush, D.L., Birken, S., Puett, D., Canfield, R.E., 1993. The application of chemical studies of human chorionic gonadotropin to visualize its three-dimensional structure. Endocr. Rev. 14, 291–311.
- Majumdar, R., Railkar, R., Dighe, R.R., 2012. Insights into differential modulation of receptor function by hinge region using novel agonistic lutropin receptor and inverse agonistic thyrotropin receptor antibodies. FEBS Lett. 586, 810–817.
- Mancia, F., Assur, Z., Herman, A.G., Siegel, R., Hendrickson, W.A., 2008. Ligand sensitivity in dimeric associations of the serotonin 5HT2c receptor. EMBO Rep. 9, 363–369.
- Massotte, D., Kieffer, B.L., 2005. The second extracellular loop: a damper for G protein-coupled receptors? Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 12, 287–288.
- Matzuk, M.M., Boime, I., 1989. Mutagenesis and gene transfer define site-specific roles of the gonadotropin oligosaccharides. Biol. Reprod. 40, 48–53.
- Matzuk, M.M., Keene, J.L., Boime, I., 1989. Site specificity of the chorionic gonadotropin N-linked oligosaccharides in signal transduction. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 2409–2414.
- McDonald, N.Q., Hendrickson, W.A., 1993. A structural superfamily of growth factors containing a cystine knot motif. Cell 73, 421–424.
- McDonald, N.Q., Lapatto, R., Murray-Rust, J., Gunning, J., Wlodawer, A., Blundell, T.L., 1991. New protein fold revealed by a 2.3-A resolution crystal structure of nerve growth factor. Nature 354, 411–414.
- McDonald, C.A., Millena, A.C., Reddy, S., Finlay, S., Vizcarra, J., Khan, S.A., Davis, J.S., 2006. Follicle-stimulating hormone-induced aromatase in immature rat Sertoli cells requires an active phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway and is inhibited via the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. Mol. Endocrinol. 20, 608–618.
- McFarland, K.C., Sprengel, R., Phillips, H.S., Kohler, M., Rosemblit, N., Nikolics, K., Segaloff, D.L., Seeburg, P.H., 1989. Lutropin-choriogonadotropin receptor: an unusual member of the G protein-coupled receptor family. Science 245, 494– 499.
- McGregor, M.J., Luo, Z., Jiang, X., 2007. Virtual Screening in Drug Discovery, in: Huang, Z. (Ed.), Drug Discovery Research: New Frontiers in the Post-Genomic Era. John Wiley & Sons, New York, pp. 63-88.
- Miguel, R.N., Sanders, J., Jeffreys, J., Depraetere, H., Evans, M., Richards, T., Blundell, T.L., Rees Smith, B., Furmaniak, J., 2004. Analysis of the thyrotropin receptorthyrotropin interaction by comparative modeling. Thyroid 14, 991–1011.
- Miguel, R.N., Sanders, J., Chirgadze, D., Blundell, T., Furmaniak, J., Smith, B.R., 2008. FSH and TSH binding to their respective receptors: similarities, differences and implication for glycoprotein hormone specificity. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 41, 145– 164.
- Mise, T., Bahl, O.P., 1980. Assignment of disulfide bonds in the alpha subunit of human chorionic gonadotropin. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 8516–8522.
- Mise, T., Bahl, O.P., 1981. Assignment of disulfide bonds in the beta subunit of human chorionic gonadotropin. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 6587–6592.
- Mizutori, Y., Chen, C.R., McLachlan, S.M., Rapoport, B., 2008. The thyrotropin receptor hinge region is not simply a scaffold for the leucine-rich domain but contributes to ligand binding and signal transduction. Mol. Endocrinol. 22, 1171–1182.
- Moyle, W.R., Matzuk, M.M., Campbell, R.K., Cogliani, E., Dean-Emig, D.M., Krichevsky, A., Barnett, R.W., Boime, I., 1990. Localization of residues that confer antibody binding specificity using human chorionic gonadotropin/ luteinizing hormone beta subunit chimeras and mutants. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 8511–8518.
- Moyle, W.R., Campbell, R.K., Myers, R.V., Bernard, M.P., Han, Y., Wang, X., 1994. Coevolution of ligand–receptor pairs. Nature 368, 251–255.

- Moyle, W.R., Campbell, R.K., Rao, S.N., Ayad, N.G., Bernard, M.P., Han, Y., Wang, Y., 1995. Model of human chorionic gonadotropin and lutropin receptor interaction that explains signal transduction of the glycoprotein hormones. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20020–20031.
- Moyle, W.R., Xing, Y., Lin, W., Cao, D., Myers, R.V., Kerrigan, J.E., Bernard, M.P., 2004. Model of glycoprotein hormone receptor ligand binding and signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 44442–44459.
- Moyle, W.R., Lin, W., Myers, R.V., Cao, D., Kerrigan, J.E., Bernard, M.P., 2005. Models of glycoprotein hormone receptor interaction. Endocrine 26, 189–205.
- Muda, M., Jiang, X., McKenna, S.D., 2010. FSH Mutants. U.S. Patent 7,740,862.
- Muda, M., Jiang, X., McKenna, S.D., 2011. FSH Glycosylation Variant D3N. U.S. Patent 7,956,034.
- Mueller, S., Kleinau, G., Jaeschke, H., Paschke, R., Krause, G., 2008. Extended hormone binding site of the human thyroid stimulating hormone receptor: distinctive acidic residues in the hinge region are involved in bovine thyroid stimulating hormone binding and receptor activation. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 18048–18055.
- Mueller, S., Jaeschke, H., Gunther, R., Paschke, R., 2010. The hinge region: an important receptor component for GPHR function. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 21, 111–122.
- Nagayama, Y., Rapoport, B., 1992. The thyrotropin receptor 25 years after its discovery: new insight after its molecular cloning. Mol. Endocrinol. 6, 145–156.
- Nakabayashi, K., Kudo, M., Kobilka, B., Hsueh, A.J., 2000. Activation of the luteinizing hormone receptor following substitution of Ser-277 with selective hydrophobic residues in the ectodomain hinge region. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 30264–30271.
- Nakabayashi, K., Matsumi, H., Bhalla, A., Bae, J., Mosselman, S., Hsu, S.Y., Hsueh, A.J., 2002. Thyrostimulin, a heterodimer of two new human glycoprotein hormone subunits, activates the thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor. J. Clin. Invest. 109, 1445–1452.
- Nickolls, S.A., Waterfield, A., Williams, R.E., Kinloch, R.A., 2011. Understanding the effect of different assay formats on agonist parameters: a study using the microopioid receptor. J. Biomol. Screen. 16, 706–716.
- Oefner, C., D'Arcy, A., Winkler, F.K., Eggimann, B., Hosang, M., 1992. Crystal structure of human platelet-derived growth factor BB. EMBO J. 11, 3921–3926.
- Okada, S.L., Ellsworth, J.L., Durnam, D.M., Haugen, H.S., Holloway, J.L., Kelley, M.L., Lewis, K.E., Ren, H., Sheppard, P.O., Storey, H.M., Waggie, K.S., Wolf, A.C., Yao, L.Y., Webster, P.J., 2006. A glycoprotein hormone expressed in corticotrophs exhibits unique binding properties on thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor. Mol. Endocrinol. 20, 414–425.
- Okajima, Y., Nagasaki, H., Suzuki, C., Suga, H., Ozaki, N., Arima, H., Hamada, Y., Civelli, O., Oiso, Y., 2008. Biochemical roles of the oligosaccharide chains in thyrostimulin, a heterodimeric hormone of glycoprotein hormone subunits alpha 2 (GPA2) and beta 5 (GPB5). Regul. Pept. 148, 62–67.
- Osuga, Y., Hayashi, M., Kudo, M., Conti, M., Kobilka, B., Hsueh, A.J., 1997. Coexpression of defective luteinizing hormone receptor fragments partially reconstitutes ligand-induced signal generation. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 25006– 25012.
- Pantel, J., Remy, J.J., Salesse, R., Jolivet, A., Bidart, J.M., 1993. Unmasking of an immunoreactive site on the alpha subunit of human choriogonadotropin bound to the extracellular domain of its receptor. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 195, 588–593.
- Parmentier, M., Libert, F., Maenhaut, C., Lefort, A., Gerard, C., Perret, J., Van Sande, J., Dumont, J.E., Vassart, G., 1989. Molecular cloning of the thyrotropin receptor. Science 246, 1620–1622.
- Parsons, T.F., Bloomfield, G., Pierce, J., 1983. Purification of an alternate form of the alpha subunit of the glycoprotein hormones from bovine pituitaries and identification of its O-linked oligosaccharide. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 240–244.
- PDR, 2013. Physicians' Desk Reference 2013, 2013 ed. PDR Network.
- Peeters, M.C., van Westen, G.J., Guo, D., Wisse, L.E., Muller, C.E., Beukers, M.W., Ijzerman, A.P., 2011. GPCR structure and activation: an essential role for the first extracellular loop in activating the adenosine A2B receptor. FASEB J. 25, 632– 643.
- Pierce, J.G., Parsons, T.F., 1981. Glycoprotein hormones: structure and function. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 50, 465–495.
- Pierce, J.G., Giudice, L.C., Reeve, J.R., 1976. Studies on the disulfide bonds of glycoprotein hormones. Course of reduction of bovine luteinizing hormone, bovine thyroid-stimulating hormone, and their subunits. J. Biol. Chem. 251, 6388–6391.
- Pierce, K.L., Premont, R.T., Lefkowitz, R.J., 2002. Seven-transmembrane receptors. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 3, 639–650.
- Pisterzi, L.F., Jansma, D.B., Georgiou, J., Woodside, M.J., Chou, J.T., Angers, S., Raicu, V., Wells, J.W., 2010. Oligomeric size of the m2 muscarinic receptor in live cells as determined by quantitative fluorescence resonance energy transfer. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 16723–16738.
- Porter, R.S., 2011. The Merck Manual of Diagnosis and Therapy, 19th ed. Wiley, John & Sons, Incorporated.
- Puett, D., Li, Y., DeMars, G., Angelova, K., Fanelli, F., 2007. A functional transmembrane complex: the luteinizing hormone receptor with bound ligand and G protein. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 260–262, 126–136.
- Puett, D., Angelova, K., da Costa, M.R., Warrenfeltz, S.W., Fanelli, F., 2010. The luteinizing hormone receptor: insights into structure–function relationships and hormone-receptor-mediated changes in gene expression in ovarian cancer cells. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 329, 47–55.
- Rapoport, B., McLachlan, S.M., 2007. The thyrotropin receptor in Graves' disease. Thyroid 17, 911–922.

- Rapoport, B., Chazenbalk, G.D., Jaume, J.C., McLachlan, S.M., 1998. The thyrotropin (TSH) receptor: interaction with TSH and autoantibodies. Endocr. Rev. 19, 673– 716.
- Rasmussen, S.G., DeVree, B.T., Zou, Y., Kruse, A.C., Chung, K.Y., Kobilka, T.S., Thian, F.S., Chae, P.S., Pardon, E., Calinski, D., Mathiesen, J.M., Shah, S.T., Lyons, J.A., Caffrey, M., Gellman, S.H., Steyaert, J., Skiniotis, G., Weis, W.I., Sunahara, R.K., Kobilka, B.K., 2011. Crystal structure of the beta2 adrenergic receptor-Gs protein complex. Nature 477, 549–555.
- Rathnam, P., Tolvo, A., Saxena, B.B., 1982. Elucidation of the disulfide bond positions of the beta-subunit of human follicle-stimulating hormone. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 708, 160–166.
- Rebois, R.V., Liss, M.T., 1987. Antibody binding to the beta-subunit of deglycosylated chorionic gonadotropin converts the antagonist to an agonist. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 3891–3896.
- Reeve Jr., J.R., Pierce, J.G., 1981. Disulfide bonds of glycoprotein hormones. Their selective reduction in the beta subunits of bovine lutropin and thyrotropin. Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 18, 79–87.
- Reeve, J.R., Cheng, K.W., Pierce, J.G., 1975. Partial reduction of disulfide bonds in the hormone-specific subunits of TSH and LH. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 67, 149–155.
- Remy, J.J., Couture, L., Pantel, J., Haertle, T., Rabesona, H., Bozon, V., Pajot-Augy, E., Robert, P., Troalen, F., Salesse, R., Bidart, J.M., 1996. Mapping of HCG-receptor complexes. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 125, 79–91.
- Rivero-Muller, A., Chou, Y.Y., Ji, I., Lajic, S., Hanyaloglu, A.C., Jonas, K., Rahman, N., Ji, T.H., Huhtaniemi, I., 2010. Rescue of defective G protein-coupled receptor function in vivo by intermolecular cooperation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 2319–2324.
- Roess, D.A., Smith, S.M., 2003. Self-association and raft localization of functional luteinizing hormone receptors. Biol. Reprod. 69, 1765–1770.
- Roess, D.A., Horvat, R.D., Munnelly, H., Barisas, B.G., 2000. Luteinizing hormone receptors are self-associated in the plasma membrane. Endocrinology 141, 4518–4523.
- Rosenbaum, D.M., Rasmussen, S.G., Kobilka, B.K., 2009. The structure and function of G-protein-coupled receptors. Nature 459, 356–363.
- Rost, B., 1999. Twilight zone of protein sequence alignments. Protein Eng. 12, 85-94.
- Roth, K.E., Dias, J.A., 1995. Scanning-alanine mutagenesis of long loop residues 33– 53 in follicle stimulating hormone beta subunit. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 109, 143– 149.
- Rovira, X., Pin, J.P., Giraldo, J., 2010. The asymmetric/symmetric activation of GPCR dimers as a possible mechanistic rationale for multiple signalling pathways. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 31, 15–21.
- Sangkuhl, K., Schulz, A., Schultz, G., Schoneberg, T., 2002. Structural requirements for mutational lutropin/choriogonadotropin receptor activation. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 47748–47755.
- Saxena, A., Redman, A.M., Jiang, X., Lockridge, O., Doctor, B., 1997. Differences in active site gorge dimensions of cholinesterases revealed by binding of inhibitors to human butyrylcholinesterase. Biochemistry 36, 14642–14651.
- Schally, A.V., Nair, R.M., Redding, T.W., Arimura, A., 1971. Isolation of the luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone-releasing hormone from porcine hypothalami. J. Biol. Chem. 246, 7230–7236.
- Schlunegger, M.P., Grutter, M.G., 1992. An unusual feature revealed by the crystal structure at 2.2 Å resolution of human transforming growth factor-beta 2. Nature 358, 430–434.
- Seegar-Jones, G.E., Gey, G.O., Ghisletta, M., 1943. Hormone production by placental cells maintained in continuous culture. Bull. John Hopkins Hosp. 72, 26–38.
- Segaloff, D.L., Ascoli, M., 1993. The lutropin/choriogonadotropin receptor ... 4 years later. Endocr. Rev. 14, 324–347.
- Shim, A.H., Liu, H., Focia, P.J., Chen, X., Lin, P.C., He, X., 2010. Structures of a plateletderived growth factor/propeptide complex and a platelet-derived growth factor/receptor complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 11307–11312.
- Simoni, M., Gromoll, J., Nieschlag, E., 1997. The follicle-stimulating hormone receptor: biochemistry, molecular biology, physiology, and pathophysiology. Endocr. Rev. 18, 739–773.
- Skrabanek, L., Murcia, M., Bouvier, M., Devi, L., George, S.R., Lohse, M.J., Milligan, G., Neubig, R., Palczewski, K., Parmentier, M., Pin, J.P., Vriend, G., Javitch, J.A., Campagne, F., Filizola, M., 2007. Requirements and ontology for a G proteincoupled receptor oligomerization knowledge base. BMC Bioinformatics 8, 177.
- Smith, P.E., 1926a. Ablation and transplantation of the hypophyses of the rat. Anat. Rec. 32, 221.
- Smith, P.E., 1926b. Hastening development of female genital system by daily hymoplastic pituitary transplants. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 24, 131–132.
 Smits, G., Campillo, M., Govaerts, C., Janssens, V., Richter, C., Vassart, G., Pardo, L.,
- Smits, G., Campillo, M., Govaerts, C., Janssens, V., Richter, C., Vassart, G., Pardo, L., Costagliola, S., 2003. Glycoprotein hormone receptors: determinants in leucinerich repeats responsible for ligand specificity. EMBO J. 22, 2692–2703.
- Song, Y.S., Ji, I., Beauchamp, J., Isaacs, N.W., Ji, T.H., 2001. Hormone interactions to Leu-rich repeats in the gonadotropin receptors. I. Analysis of Leu-rich repeats of human luteinizing hormone/chorionic gonadotropin receptor and folliclestimulating hormone receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 3426–3435.
- Sprengel, R., Braun, T., Nikolics, K., Segaloff, D.L., Seeburg, P.H., 1990. The testicular receptor for follicle stimulating hormone: structure and functional expression of cloned cDNA. Mol. Endocrinol. 4, 525–530.
- Steptoe, P.C., Edwards, R.G., 1978. Birth after the reimplantation of a human embryo. Lancet 2, 366.
- Sternberg, S., 2012. Curvature in Mathematics and Physics. Courier Dover Publications, New York.

- Szkudlinski, M.W., Thotakura, N.R., Tropea, J.E., Grossmann, M., Weintraub, B.D., 1995. Asparagine-linked oligosaccharide structures determine clearance and organ distribution of pituitary and recombinant thyrotropin. Endocrinology 136, 3325–3330.
- Szkudlinski, M.W., Teh, N.G., Grossmann, M., Tropea, J.E., Weintraub, B.D., 1996. Engineering human glycoprotein hormone superactive analogues. Nat. Biotechnol. 14, 1257–1263.
- Szkudlinski, M.W., Fremont, V., Ronin, C., Weintraub, B.D., 2002. Thyroidstimulating hormone and thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor structure– function relationships. Physiol. Rev. 82, 473–502.
- Takeda, K., Sato, H., Hino, T., Kono, M., Fukuda, K., Sakurai, I., Okada, T., Kouyama, T., 1998. A novel three-dimensional crystal of bacteriorhodopsin obtained by successive fusion of the vesicular assemblies. J. Mol. Biol. 283, 463–474.
- Talmadge, K., Vamvakopoulos, N.C., Fiddes, J.C., 1984. Evolution of the genes for the beta subunits of human chorionic gonadotropin and luteinizing hormone. Nature 307, 37–40.
- Tao, Y.X., Segaloff, D.L., 2009. Follicle stimulating hormone receptor mutations and reproductive disorders. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 89, 115–131.
- Tao, Y.X., Johnson, N.B., Segaloff, D.L., 2004. Constitutive and agonist-dependent self-association of the cell surface human lutropin receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 5904–5914.
- Tausk, M., 1978. Organon: de geschiedenis van een bijzondere Nederlandse onderneming. Dekker & Van de Vegt, Nijimegen.
- Tegoni, M., Spinelli, S., Verhoeyen, M., Davis, P., Cambillau, C., 1999. Crystal structure of a ternary complex between human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) and two Fv fragments specific for the alpha and beta-subunits. J. Mol. Biol. 289, 1375–1385.
- Thomas, R.M., Nechamen, C.A., Mazurkiewicz, J.E., Muda, M., Palmer, S., Dias, J.A., 2007. Follice-stimulating hormone receptor forms oligomers and shows evidence of carboxyl-terminal proteolytic processing. Endocrinology 148, 1987–1995.
- Uchida, K., Moriyama, S., Chiba, H., Shimotani, T., Honda, K., Miki, M., Takahashi, A., Sower, S.A., Nozaki, M., 2010. Evolutionary origin of a functional gonadotropin in the pituitary of the most primitive vertebrate, hagfish. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 15832–15837.
- Uhlenhuth, E., Schwartzbach, S., 1927. The morphology and physiology of the salamander thyroid gland II. The anterior lobe of the hypophysis as a control mechanism of the function of the thyroid gland. J. Exp. Biol. 5, 1–5.
- Ulloa-Aguirre, A., Timossi, C., Damian-Matsumura, P., Dias, J.A., 1999. Role of glycosylation in function of follicle-stimulating hormone. Endocrine 11, 205– 215.
- Ulloa-Aguirre, A., Zarinan, T., Pasapera, A.M., Casas-Gonzalez, P., Dias, J.A., 2007. Multiple facets of follicle-stimulating hormone receptor function. Endocrine 32, 251–263.
- Urizar, E., Montanelli, L., Loy, T., Bonomi, M., Swillens, S., Gales, C., Bouvier, M., Smits, G., Vassart, G., Costagliola, S., 2005. Glycoprotein hormone receptors: link between receptor homodimerization and negative cooperativity. EMBO J. 24, 1954–1964.
- van Koppen, C.J., Verbost, P.M., van de Lagemaat, R., Karstens, W.J., Loozen, H.J., van Achterberg, T.A., van Amstel, M.G., Brands, J.H., van Doornmalen, E.J., Wat, J., Mulder, S.J., Raafs, B.C., Verkaik, S., Hanssen, R.G., Timmers, C.M., 2013. Signaling of an allosteric, nanomolar potent, low molecular weight agonist for the folliclestimulating hormone receptor. Biochem. Pharmacol. 85, 1162–1170.
- van Zuylen, C.W., Kamerling, J.P., Vliegenthart, J.F., 1997. Glycosylation beyond the Asn78-linked GlcNAc residue has a significant enhancing effect on the stability of the alpha subunit of human chorionic gonadotropin. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 232, 117–120.
- Vassart, G., 2010. An in vivo demonstration of functional G protein-coupled receptor dimers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 1819–1820.
- Vassart, G., Costagliola, S., 2011. G protein-coupled receptors: mutations and endocrine diseases. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 7, 362–372.
- Vischer, H.F., Granneman, J.C., Bogerd, J., 2003. Opposite contribution of two ligandselective determinants in the N-terminal hormone-binding exodomain of human gonadotropin receptors. Mol. Endocrinol. 17, 1972–1981.
- Vlaeminck-Guillem, V., Ho, S.C., Rodien, P., Vassart, G., Costagliola, S., 2002. Activation of the cAMP pathway by the TSH receptor involves switching of the ectodomain from a tethered inverse agonist to an agonist. Mol. Endocrinol. 16, 736–746.

- Walton, W.J., Nguyen, V.T., Butnev, V.Y., Singh, V., Moore, W.T., Bousfield, G.R., 2001. Characterization of human FSH isoforms reveals a nonglycosylated betasubunit in addition to the conventional glycosylated beta-subunit. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 3675–3685.
- Wang, D., Huang, B., Zhang, S., Yu, X., Wu, W., Wang, X., 2013. Structural basis for Rspondin recognition by LGR4/5/6 receptors. Genes Dev. 27, 1339–1344.
- Ward, D.N., Moore, W.T., 1979. Animal models for research. In: Alexander, N.J. (Ed.), Fertility and Contraception. Harper and Row, Baltimore, MD, pp. 151–164.
- Ward, D.N., Glenn, S.D., Nahm, H.S., Wen, T., 1986. Characterization of cleavage products in selected human lutropin preparations. Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 27, 70–78.
- Weatherford, D.W., Salemme, F.R., 1979. Conformations of twisted parallel betasheets and the origin of chirality in protein structures. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76, 19–23.
- Weiss, J., Axelrod, L., Whitcomb, R.W., Harris, P.E., Crowley, W.F., Jameson, J.L., 1992. Hypogonadism caused by a single amino acid substitution in the beta subunit of luteinizing hormone. N. Engl. J. Med. 326, 179–183.
- Whorton, M.R., Bokoch, M.P., Rasmussen, S.G., Huang, B., Zare, R.N., Kobilka, B., Sunahara, R.K., 2007. A monomeric G protein-coupled receptor isolated in a high-density lipoprotein particle efficiently activates its G protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 7682–7687.
- Willey, K.P., Leidenberger, F., 1989. Functionally distinct agonist and receptorbinding regions in human chorionic gonadotropin. Development of a tertiary structure model. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 19716–19729.
- Wu, H., Lustbader, J.W., Liu, Y., Canfield, R.E., Hendrickson, W.A., 1994. Structure of human chorionic gonadotropin at 2.6 Å resolution from MAD analysis of the selenomethionyl protein. Structure 2, 545–558.
- Xing, Y., Moyle, W.R., 2003. Efficient preparation of glycoprotein hormones lacking an alpha-subunit oligosaccharide. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 303, 201– 205.
- Xing, Y., Lin, W., Jiang, M., Cao, D., Myers, R.V., Bernard, M.P., Moyle, W.R., 2004a. Use of protein knobs to characterize the position of conserved alpha-subunit regions in lutropin receptor complexes. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 44427–44437.
- Xing, Y., Myers, R.V., Cao, D., Lin, W., Jiang, M., Bernard, M.P., Moyle, W.R., 2004b. Glycoprotein hormone assembly in the endoplasmic reticulum: III. The seatbelt and its latch site determine the assembly pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 35449– 35457.
- Yanofsky, S.D., Shen, E.S., Holden, F., Whitehorn, E., Aguilar, B., Tate, E., Holmes, C.P., Scheuerman, R., MacLean, D., Wu, M.M., Frail, D.E., Lopez, F.J., Winneker, R., Arey, B.J., Barrett, R.W., 2006. Allosteric activation of the follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) receptor by selective, nonpeptide agonists. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 13226–13233.
- Yoo, J., Zeng, H., Ji, I., Murdoch, W.J., Ji, T.H., 1993. COOH-terminal amino acids of the alpha subunit play common and different roles in human choriogonadotropin and follitropin. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 13034–13042.
- Zhang, M., Tong, K.P., Fremont, V., Chen, J., Narayan, P., Puett, D., Weintraub, B.D., Szkudlinski, M.W., 2000. The extracellular domain suppresses constitutive activity of the transmembrane domain of the human TSH receptor: implications for hormone-receptor interaction and antagonist design. Endocrinology 141, 3514–3517.
- Zhang, C., Srinivasan, Y., Arlow, D.H., Fung, J.J., Palmer, D., Zheng, Y., Green, H.F., Pandey, A., Dror, R.O., Shaw, D.E., Weis, W.I., Coughlin, S.R., Kobilka, B.K., 2012. High-resolution crystal structure of human protease-activated receptor 1. Nature 492, 387–392.
- Zoenen, M., Urizar, E., Swillens, S., Vassart, G., Costagliola, S., 2012. Evidence for activity-regulated hormone-binding cooperativity across glycoprotein hormone receptor homomers. Nat. Commun. 3, 1007.
- Zondek, B., 1926. Ueber die Funktion des Ovariums. Z. Geburtsh. Gynäkol. 90, 372–376.
- Zondek, B., 1929. Weitere Untersuchungen zur Darstellung, Biologie und Klinik des Hypophysenvorderlappen-hormons (Prolan). Z. Gynäkol. 14, 834–848.
- Zondek, B., 1930. Über die Hormone des Hypophysenvorderlappens. II. Follikelreifungshormon Prolan A-Klimakterium-Kastration. Klin. Wochenschr. 9, 393–396.